Synthesis and Uses of exo-Glycals

Claude Taillefumier and Yves Chapleur*

Groupe SUCRES, UMR 7565 CNRS-UHP, Université Henri Poincaré-Nancy 1, BP 239, 54506 Nancy-Vandoeuvre, France

Received July 3, 2003

Contents

| 1. Introduction | 263 |
|---|-----|
| 2. Synthesis of exo-Glycals | 263 |
| 2.1. Direct Olefination Methods | 264 |
| 2.1.1. Olefination Using Phosphorus-Based Reagents | 267 |
| 2.1.2. Alkylidenation Using Organometallics | 271 |
| 2.2. Stepwise Olefination Methods | 273 |
| 2.2.1. Addition–Elimination Reactions | 273 |
| 2.2.2. Ramberg–Bäcklund Olefination | 276 |
| 2.2.3. Miscellaneous Methods | 277 |
| 3. Synthetic Uses of <i>exo-</i> Glycals | 279 |
| 3.1. Synthesis of C-Glycosyl Compounds | 279 |
| 3.1.1. Double Bond Reduction | 279 |
| 3.1.2. Double Bond Functionalization | 281 |
| 3.1.3. Chain Extension by New Carbon–Carbon Bond Formation | 282 |
| 3.2. Synthesis of Ketoses and Ketosides | 284 |
| 3.3. Synthesis of <i>N</i> -Glycosides | 287 |
| 4. Outlook | 289 |
| 5. Conclusion | 289 |
| 6. Acknowledgment | 289 |
| 7. Abbreviations | 289 |
| 8. References | 290 |

1. Introduction

C-Glycosyl derivatives are well-known compounds, frequently encountered in Nature. Due to their stability toward hydrolysis, these mimics of O-glycosides have been largely studied. Their syntheses have been explored over the years, and a number of creative methods of C-C bond formation at the anomeric center have emerged. C-Glycosyl compounds having a carbon-carbon double bond at the anomeric center, e.g., 1, are less familiar compounds. These *C*-glycosylidene compounds, frequently termed "*ex*o-glycals", were almost unknown until recently.¹ In principle, such olefins could be of interest as precursors of *C*-glycosides if the double bond can be reduced with high stereocontrol. The presence of the ring oxygen strongly influences the reactivity of this double bond, so interesting properties should be expected from these olefins. The synthesis of Cglycosylidene derivatives needs to be explored as well as their reactivity. The discovery of several direct

methods for the formation of a carbon-carbon double bond at the anomeric center of carbohydrates has enlarged the availability of these unsaturated compounds and reinforced their interest. It is worth mentioning that 1,2-unsaturated sugars, the so-called glycals 2, also displaying an enol ether function at the anomeric center, are well-known and widely used compounds, easily prepared from 1-halogeno sugars or other activated derivatives. Their chemistry is well developed, and a number of reactions can be carried out on glycals.² Other useful compounds having an exo carbon-carbon double bond near the ring oxygen are 5,6-unsaturated sugars 3^3 , which are easily available from 6-halogeno sugars⁴ and are interesting intermediates for the formation of a carbon-carbon bond^{5,6} and for the well-known Ferrier carbocyclization.⁷ These compounds are also referred to as exoglycals. Being involved in the exo-glycal research field for several years, it seemed to us of interest now to summarize all the efforts developed by several groups to find innovative methods and reactions in this field. The purpose of this review is to report on the state of the art in *C*-glycosylidene-*exo*-glycal chemistry. In the first part of this review, we will describe the synthetic methods leading to exo-glycals, whereas their use in the synthesis of complex sugars will be detailed in the last part of this paper.





2. Synthesis of exo-Glycals

The first examples of *exo*-glycal were reported in 1975 by Bischofberger et al., who studied the reaction of ethyl isocyanoacetate with lactones.⁸ Reduction of the double bond gave anomeric *N*-formyl amino acids. The key reaction developed was a direct olefination reaction, i.e., a one-pot reaction leading in a single

^{*} To whom correspondence should be addressed. Fax: +33 383 68 47 80. E-mail: yves.chapleur@sucres.uhp-nancy.fr.



Claude Taillefumier was born in 1967 in Nancy, France, where he studied chemistry and received his Ph.D. degree in organic chemistry in 1995 under the supervision of Dr. Yves Chapleur. During his doctoral studies, he worked on the synthesis of cholesterol biosynthesis inhibitors and more specifically on the preparation of HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors. He was appointed to a lectureship of organic chemistry at the Faculty of Sciences of the Université Henri Poincaré Nancy in 1996. In 2000, he joined the research group of Prof. George W. J. Fleet at the Dyson Perrins Laboratory in Oxford, where he worked on the synthesis and structural determination of peptidomimetic oligomers from oxetane β -amino acids. As from the beginning, his current research at the Department of Chemistry in Nancy is focused on carbohydrate chemistry. His research involves the synthesis and reactivity studies of *exo*-glycals, the chemistry of sugar amino acids, and the use of sugars as peptidomimetic scaffolds.

synthetic step to olefin formation. In the course of glycosidase mechanism studies, Brockhaus and Lehmann reported the first example of a *C*-methylene derivative.9 The synthesis was based on a stepwise procedure in which a *C*-glycosyl derivative, equipped with an iodine atom, is constructed first. Subsequent elimination according to the well-established procedure led to the unsaturated sugar. These two early reports perfectly illustrate the two main ways used to access exo-glycals. The first one is the direct formation of an anomeric double bond using an olefination process, starting obviously from a carbonyl group and taking advantage of Wittig-type olefination or other organometallic reagents. In this regard, lactones are ideal, readily available starting compounds. The second way is a stepwise process, based on the creation of a carbon-carbon bond at the anomeric center, followed by subsequent double formation involving an elimination reaction. Here again, sugar lactones are evident but not exclusive substrates.

For the sake of clarity, the synthesis of *exo*-glycals has been arranged according to these two main approaches. The direct methods will be discussed first, whereas the stepwise methods will be presented second.

2.1. Direct Olefination Methods

The use of lactones as starting compounds for direct formation of *exo*-glycals is attractive, provided that a suitable and general reaction could be found. As already mentioned, the reaction of ethyl isocyanoacetate with lactones provided the first solution to *exo*-glycals synthesis.⁸ Reduction of *exo*-glycal **5**, obtained from lactone **4**, gave sugar amino acid **6**. However, this pioneering work has not been thor-



Yves Chapleur graduated from University of Nancy and obtained his Ph.D. in 1976 under the guidance of Professor Bertrand Castro. He was awarded the Benjamin Delessert prize of the CEDUS in 1977 for his work on saccharose and related sugars. In 1978-1979, he received postdoctoral training with Professor Steve Hanessian at the University of Montreal as a SERC research associate and as a NATO fellowship recipient, working on the total synthesis of the macrolide antibiotic boromycin from carbohydrates. He was appointed as research associate at CNRS and became senior reseacher in 1981. In 1986, he became director of research at CNRS in the Department of Chemistry of the Université Henri Poincaré in Nancy. His research interests are centered around carbohydrates, exploring successively the chemistry of C-nucleosides, the total synthesis of Amaryllidaceae alkaloids from sugars, the carbocyclization of sugars, and the chemistry of carbohydrate analogues. In connection with the latter, he chaired two Euroconferences on this topic and edited a book on the subject, Carbohydrate Mimics: Concepts and Methods. The current research projects of the group SUCRES ("sugars" in French) are centered around the chemistry of cell signal transduction, the use of sugar as scaffolds, and the construction of macrocyclic sugar-based receptors. A long-standing interest of the group is the use of sugar lactones for the synthesis of exo-glycals, C-glycosides, and sugar amino acids.

oughly exploited due to facile formation of acyclic sugar oxazole in the presence of excess potassium ethyl isocyanate salt.⁹ The reaction of tosylmethyl isocyanide with sugar lactones has been also investigated.¹⁰ In 1984 were described, almost at the same time, two direct olefinations of sugar lactones, opening the way to some *C*-glycosylidene derivatives. One of these methods was a phosphorus-based reaction yielding dichloroolefins, discovered in our group.¹¹ The second method was a direct methylenation using Tebbe reagent disclosed by Wilcox's group.¹² In both cases, lactones were used as starting materials, giving access to several types of *exo*-glycals. The different methods available will be described below and arranged according to the type of reagents used,





Table 1. Dihaloolefination of Some Lactones



Taillefumier and Chapleur



Table 1 (Continued)



^{*a*} Reaction conditions: (A) P(NMe₂)₃ 3 equiv, CCl₄ 4 equiv, CH₂Cl₂, -40 °C; (B) PPh₃ 3 equiv, CCl₄ 10 equiv, THF, reflux; (C) P(NMe₂)₃, CBr₂F₂, Zn, THF, reflux; (D) P(NMe₂)₃ 2.2 eqiv., CBrCl₃ 3 equiv, CH₂Cl₂, -78 °C to room temperature.

i.e., phosphorus-based reagents used in one-step olefination of carbonyl groups and organometallics recently introduced for the same purpose.

2.1.1. Olefination Using Phosphorus-Based Reagents

Wittig reaction was appealing, but the rather poor reactivity of ester carbonyl groups toward phosphoranes was well established, and only a few reports dealt with olefination of esters, amides, or anhydrides.¹³ Only one example of intramolecular Wittig reaction of a sugar derivative was known at that time.^{14,15}

All attempts at lactone olefination using standard phosphoranes, carried out in our group at that time, failed due to improper reaction conditions. The presence of an isopropylidene group at position 2,3 of the lactone strongly modifies the reactivity of the lactone. For example, it is possible to prepare lactols from lactones on treatment with sodium borohydride without reduction to the alditol. We reasoned that sugar lactones might behave like ketones if a dioxolane ring is fused to the lactone ring; thus, olefinforming reactions usable for ketones would be efficient with such sugar lactones.

Dichloroolefins attracted our attention, and a particular reagent system, tris(dimethylamino)phosphine (7)-tetrachloromethane (TCM), seemed a good candidate to achieve dichloroolefination. This reagent

Scheme 3



is generally used at low temperature and reacts cleanly with aldehydes and ketones.¹⁶ Its mechanism proceeds in two steps: nucleophilic addition of the trichloromethylide anion of 8 on the carbonyl group to form an alcoholate 9, which immediately reacts with chloro-tris(dimethylamino)phosphonium cation to form an alkoxyphosphonium salt. Subsequent elimination of phosphine oxide gives rise to the formation of olefin 10. Reasoning that this mechanism was sligthly different from the generally postulated Wittig mechanism, it had a good chance to proceed on sugar lactones, which are prone to nucleophilic addition. Our first attempts were successful and gave excellent yields of dichloroolefins 12 with several bicyclic lactones^{11,17} (see Table 1). The reaction was carried out around -30 °C with 3 equiv of phosphine and 4 equiv of TCM. D-Mannono- or

Scheme 4



D-gulono-1,4-lactones **4** and **13** were highly reactive and gave excellent yields of the expected dichloroolefins **14** and **16** (Table 1, entries 1 and 4). Sterically hindered lactones, such as the D-ribose-derived compounds **18** and **20**, reacted slowly and were transformed at 0 °C (Table 1, entries 7 and 8). Nevertheless, 1,4-lactones derived from arabinose, such as **27**, did not react under these conditions (Table 1, entry 12). Ascorbic acid derivative **43** did not give olefin, but ring-opened to form acyl chloride **44** as an E/Zmixture (Table 1, entry 20). Oxidation at *C*-4 was the result of proton abstraction by the trichloromethylide anion followed by ring-opening to form a ketene, precursor of the acyl chloride.¹⁸ Moreover, 1,5-lactones gave low yields of olefins (20% of **46** from **45**; Table 1, entry 21), whereas mannono-1,5-lactone **47** gave the vinylic chloride **48** in excellent yield (90%; Table 1, entry 23) instead of the expected dichloroole-fin **49**. This was attributed to a facile enolization of lactones **47**, which prevents nucleophilic addition of the trichloromethylide anion on the carbonyl group.

Although the tris(dimethylamino)phosphinetetrachloromethane system was efficient with several lactones, the reaction suffered some limitations. Attempts to substitute tetrachloromethane for tetrabromomethane did not improve the results, only traces of dibromoolefins being formed.

Very recently, bromotrichloromethane and phosphine **7** were efficiently used by Shiozaki to achieve the dichloromethylenation of protected ribono-lactone derivatives **23** and **25** at low temperature, to yield olefins **24** and **26** in 86% and 95% yield, respectively (Table 1, entries 10 and 11).¹⁹

An extension of our method to difluoroolefination of sugar lactones came from Motherwell's group. Using the same phosphine reagent **7** associated with dibromodifluoromethane and zinc, a series of difluoroolefins from about the same substrates was obtained.^{20,21} This sequence was efficient with 1,4lactones **4**, **13**, **20**, and **33** (Table 1, entries 3, 6, 9, and 16) and with the 1,5-lactone derived from Dglucose **52**, giving the difluoroolefin **53** in 66% yield in this case (Table 1, entry 26). This better yield in the formation of **53** as compared to the yield of **46** (Table 1, entry 21) is likely due to the use of trimethylsilyl protecting groups instead of the bulky benzyl groups present in **45**.

The lack of reactivity of some lactones with the tris-(dimethylamino)phosphine–TCM system prompted us to consider more suitable and widely used reagents to form these compounds. Attempts to use triphenylphosphine (TPP) and TCM had been unsuccessful, although there are a few examples of dichloroolefination of aliphatic and aromatic lactones with this reagent in a paper by Suda.²³

After considerable experimentation, the TPP–TCM reagent was found efficient for the dichloroolefination of lactones under carefuly controlled conditions.^{22,24} Acetonitrile, which was reported as one of the best solvents for such Wittig olefinations,²⁵ was deleterious in our case, likely due to a reaction of the intermediate phosphorane with acetonitrile. TCM can be also used as solvent but gave minute amounts of dichloroolefins. Finally, the proper conditions were determined to be the use of tetrahydrofuran as the solvent and slow addition, typically using motor-driven syringe, of excess TCM on the refluxing solution of the lactone. A 2-fold excess of TPP (4 equiv because the reaction needs 2 equiv of TPP) and a larger excess of TCM were needed.

Under these conditions, a large number of lactones were transformed, including 1,4- and 1,5-lactones protected with ether or acetal groups. Table 1 summarizes these results and provides a comparison between the two methods. Lactones **27**, **45**, and **47** were easily transformed into olefins **28**, **46**, and **49** in good yields (Table 1, entries 13, 22, and 24). Surprisingly, ester groups can be used to protect alcohols such as in **35** or **50**, but **36** was obtained in only 45% yield, suggesting some side reactions (Table 1, entries 17 and 25). Thus, it was shown that acetate can react under these conditions. The reactivity of the acetate carbonyl group was found to be close to that of a lactone carbonyl group. A typical case was the reaction of 5-O-acetyl isosaccharinolactone 37.26 This rather crowed lactone reacted simultaneously at both sites, i.e., lactone and acetate carbonyls. Mixtures of products **38–40** were obtained (Table 1, entry 18). Pantolactone derivative 41 gave 42 in 80% yield, although the carbonyl group is neopentylic (Table 1, entry 19). This also showed that MOM ethers are compatible with these reaction conditions, but silyl ethers were not, and chlorination of the corresponding alcohol was observed.^{24,27} Pivaloyl groups were less affected and can be used as protecting groups. Dioxolanone 54 derived from gluconolactone also reacted with TPP-TCM, giving 55 in excellent yield (Table 1, entry 27). Non-sugar lactones such as Corey lactone or podophyllotoxin cleanly reacted under these conditions.²

These results can be considered as a major breakthrough in the synthesis of *C*-glycosylidene compounds and motivated the search for diversely functionalized olefins. Dichloromethylene triphenylphosphorane is a nonstabilized phosphorane, reacting quite easily with lactone and esters; thus, the Wittig olefination of these "unreactive" carbonyl groups could be just a matter of finding the proper reaction conditions.

Dichloroolefins showed interesting reactivity and prompted the search for more reactive analogues. Sugar-derived dibromoolefins were potentially interesting compounds, not yet prepared in significant yields. Until recently, all attempts to achieve dibromoolefination of lactones using TPP and tetrabromomethane (TBM) were unsuccessful. Monohalogeno olefins being attractive substrates, the reaction of monobromomethylene triphenylphosphorane 58 with lactones was explored. Surprisingly, this reaction gave dibromoolefins 56 instead of the expected monobromo ones.²⁸ This was tentatively explained by a halogenation reaction of the monobromomethylene phosphorane 58 by a molecule of monobromophosphonium salt 57, giving the dibromomethylene phosphorane **61**, and then reacting with the lactone. This halogenation reaction gave, as a side product, methyl phosphoranylidene 59, another phosphorane. Using this strategy, some dibromo C-glycosylidene compounds such as 56 are now accessible. Their reactivity is currently being tested in our group. More recently, it was found that, under carefully controlled conditions, TPP and TBM can transform lactones into dibromoolefins.²⁹ A related and interesting strategy has been proposed by Lamberth to construct monobromo aryl *exo*-glycals.³⁰ The reaction of triethyl phosphite with aryltrihalomethane in the presence of a sugar lactone gave the expected olefins. The reaction has been applied to D-ribono-1,4-lactone 20 and gluconolactone 45. Mixture of isomers were obtained in each case. This reaction has been applied to phenyl and pyridinyl rings.

The above results suggested that lactone olefination was dependent to some extent on the stability

Scheme 5



and reactivity of the phosphorane rather than on lactone's intrinsic reactivity. In other words, lactones could react with nonstabilized phosphoranes, provided the latter are stable and reactive under the reaction conditions. It was expected that the reaction with stabilized but less reactive phosphoranes would require harsh conditions. Only intramolecular Wittig olefination of lactones had been reported.^{14,31} The reaction of lactones with such phosphoranes was investigated as a means to prepare functionalized *C*-glycosylidene compounds.³² Obviously, methyltriphenyl phosphoranylidene acetate was first considered. Once again, extensive experimentation was needed to find the proper reaction conditions. Finally, toluene was chosen to allow sufficiently high temperature, a prerequisite to good reaction rate. Nevertheless, the reaction often needed reaction temperatures above 110 °C, so a sealed vessel was used. Excess of phosphorane was also required, likely because this reagent is moderately stable above 120 °C, as shown below.

Scheme 6



Our standard repertoire of starting lactones was tested under these conditions and gave good to excellent results in terms of yield. As a trisubstituted double bond is formed, E and Z isomers can be obtained. Almost no selectivity was observed, except for the D-gluconolactone derivative **71**.

Many protecting groups are tolerated under the above conditions: ethers, silyl ethers, and even esters. In this case, an acetate group remote from the reactive center is compatible, but poor results were obtained with the 2-OBz derivative **70**. This should be the result of steric hindrance. Equally good results were also obtained with *tert*-butyloxy- and (ethyloxy-carbonyl)methylene(triphenyl)phosphorane, as shown in the preparation of **71** and **72**. The *Z*/*E* selectivity increased when six-membered-ring lactones were used, only *Z* derivatives being obtained with perbenz-



ylated D-galacto- and D-glucono-lactone.³³ Perbenzylated mannonolactone gave poor results, whereas the tricyclic derivative **74** was formed in acceptable yield under our conditions.³² 5-*O*-Acetyl-2,3-*O*-isopropylidene-D-ribonolactone cleanly reacts under these conditions.³⁴

This olefination has been extended by Czernecki and Xie to 2-acetamido-2-deoxy sugar lactones derived from galactose and glucose, in rather good yields. In this case also, *O*-benzyl-2-acetamido-2deoxy-D-mannono-1,5-lactone failed to give olefin and decomposed in refluxing toluene.³³

It is worthy of note that *exo*-glycals such as **63** or **65** are stable to a variety of conditions, as shown by the facile chain homologation of the aldehyde at C-4 (carbohydrate numbering) using diethylaluminum cyanide.³⁵

Recently, we turned our attention to cyanomethylene triphenylphosphorane **76**.³⁶ This type of Wittig reagent is considered to be more reactive than the corresponding ester.³⁷ This proved to be the case with sugar lactones, since the reactions were performed in refluxing toluene, giving excellent yields of the expected olefins.³⁸ As can be seen from Scheme 7, better yields were obtained using phosphorane **76**. It is interesting to note that this reagent is unstable above 110 °C. Analogous results were obtained with aliphatic esters, lactones, and imides using cyanomethylene triphenylphosphorane while our work was in progress.³⁹

The introduction of microwave (MW) irradiation to perform thermal reactions improved a number of synthetic procedures.⁴⁰ A report by Sabitha on the successful use of MW activation of the Wittig olefination of lactones and amides with ethoxycarbonylmethylene(triphenyl)phosphorane prompted us to explore this technology.⁴¹ Again using cyanomethylene triphenylphosphorane **76**, MW activation considerably accelerated the reaction and improved the yield. For example, a reaction performed within 24 h in refluxing toluene can be achieved in 4 min in toluene under MW activation in the same 90% yield.

Olefination using **76** also gave mixtures of *E* and *Z* olefins whatever the activation mode, thermal or microwave. These reaction conditions tolerated many different functional groups: ethers, acetals, and esters. For example, mannose-derived lactone **4** was efficiently transformed into the corresponding olefin **66** (E/Z 1.7:1) in 76% yield in refluxing toluene and 98% yield using MW activation.³⁸

One can conclude from this survey that direct olefination of sugar lactones using Wittig reaction has a wide scope and allows for the formation of differently functionalized olefins. Dihalogenomethylenation, carboxymethylenation, and cyanomethylenation are efficient, easily performed reactions. As will be shown in the second part of this review, the usefulness of these compounds is going to be well established and provides a short entry to a variety of compounds.

The introduction of two sulfur atoms on the exoglycal double bond is of interest as it could allow the double bond to be efficiently transformed into a functional group such as aldehyde or acid, opening the way to many derivatives. Such ketene dithioacetals have been prepared from sugar lactones using Horner-Emmons and Peterson olefination. The first route involved the use of an activated phosphonate introduced by Mikolajczyck.⁴² 2-Deoxy 1,5-lactones 77 and 78, derived from D-glucal and D-galactal, respectively, were treated with the potassium salt of phosphonate 81 to provide the ketene dithioacetals 79 and 80, respectively, in 72% and 62% yields. The Peterson olefination using dithiane 82 and its anion gave poor results, extensive β -elimination of an alkoxy group on the lactone being observed. This is probably one of the first applications of this olefination on lactone. The ketene acetals were in turn transformed into the corresponding ulosonic esters upon treatment with N-bromosuccinimide in methanol. When treated with triphenylphosphine and DBU, 2-bromoacetyl-1,4-lactones underwent intramolecular Wittig olefination to form fused furano-1,4lactones.¹⁵ These compounds are good intermediates for the synthesis of furanofurans found in many natural compounds, such as goniofufurone⁴³ or erythroskyrine.⁴⁴ Other conditions for the intramolecular olefination of α -hydroxy or α -amino esters have been proposed.^{45,46} Olefination of thio- γ -O-lactones using





ethyl diazoacetate or ethyl diazomalonate has been reported and is illustrated in the next section.⁴⁷ Thionolactones also react with stabilized Wittig reagents. This has been used in the synthesis of a branched-chain *C*-glycoside in relation with the synthesis of FR901464.⁴⁸

A Wittig-based synthesis of exo-glycals can be envisioned the other way around, by coupling a sugar-derived phosphorane with an aldehyde or a ketone. In principle, this method would provide access to a large panel of compounds, given that any carbonyl group could be reactive in this Wittig olefination. The main difficulty should arise from the carbohydrate phosphorane. Some derivatives of this kind are known from the pioneering work of Secrist et al.49 and have been used for the synthesis of complex oligosaccharide analogues.⁵⁰ If these phosphoranes derived from primary hydroxyl groups have been used, those located at the anomeric position were less studied until recently. The first example of this approach was reported by Mioskowski and Falck.⁵¹ The phosphonium salt precursor 84 was obtained by addition of triphenylphosphine hydrobromide on glycal 83 at 0 °C (Scheme 9). Treatment of **84** with *n*-butyllithium in THF in the presence of HMPA generated the corresponding phosphorane, which reacted with *n*-octanal to afford the expected exo-glycal 85 in 78% yield. Reduction of this compound in the presence of base gave the corresponding β -*C*-glycoside **86**. Subsequent removal of the benzyl groups gave the free *C*-glycoside **87**. In the absence of base, reduction of the labile enol ether bond gave a mixture of α and β derivatives **87** due to *exo–endo* isomerization. Although the method is appealing, it is clear that it suffers from a strong limitation. Only 2-deoxy phosphoranes are useful in this approach, the presence of any heteroatom at position 2 of the phosphorane immediately inducing elimination to form the corresponding glycal. Another limitation is the need for a strong base to generate the phosphorane, precluding the use of a number of protective groups. This method has been used in some syntheses of tetrahydropyran-containing natural products.⁵² Ring-opening of 1,6-anhydro sugars has been also used as a key step for the synthesis of the phosphonium salts.^{52c,53,54}

Lieberknecht's group proposed an alternative method to prepare anomeric phosphonium salts by treatment of methyl glycoside **88** with hydrogen triphenylphosphonium tetrafluoroborate in refluxing

Scheme 9



acetonitrile.⁵⁵ A series of aromatic aldehydes were reacted with the phosphorane derived from **89** using three different reaction conditions. The best yields (58%) were obtained using potassium *tert*-butoxide in THF. All enol ethers **90** were obtained as Z/Emixtures with a slight preference for the latter. Conversion of *E* to *Z* isomer was achieved on UV irradiation in the presence of iodine. The same types of compounds have been reported by Veyrières.^{53,54} Application to the coupling of a 2-deoxy-galactopyranose-derived phosphorane with Garner aldehyde led to a concise synthesis of *C*-glycosyl amino acid.⁵⁶

Scheme 10



2.1.2. Alkylidenation Using Organometallics

Another interesting use of sugar lactones is methylenation with titanium-based reagent. The so-called Tebbe reagent **91** was well known for the methylenation of ketones and aldehydes.⁵⁷ It was also used for the methylenation of esters. A comprehensive review on the titanium-based alkylidenation of carboxylic acid and carbonic acid derivatives has recently appeared.⁵⁸ Methylenation of sugar lactones was first disclosed by Wilcox in 1984, and led to interesting developments in carbohydrate chemistry.¹²

In the course of synthetic approaches to the mycotoxins aurovertin and citreoviridin, the methylenation of ribonolactone derivative **20** using Tebbe reagent **91** was reported. The reaction proceeded at -40 °C to give **92** in 85% yield (Table 2, entry 1). The next step was addition of acetic acid to the double bond to provide a single anomeric acetate **93** in excellent yield. The latter was in turn alkylated at the anomeric position on treatment with allyltrimethylsilane in the presence of zinc bromide. This example established the validity of the Tebbe methylenation of sugar lactones. The synthetic utility was demonstrated by a facile electrophilic addition. However, it is interesting to note that Wilcox's total synthesis of citreoviral and citreoviridin relied not on this sequence but on the more convenient methyllithium addition on a ribonolactone derivative.⁵⁹ RajanBabu and Reddy further examplified this strategy in 1986.⁶⁰ These authors described the methylenation of 1,4-lactones such as D-ribonolactone and D-galactonolactone in useful yields (60–80%) of the corresponding methylene **96** and **98** derivatives, respectively (Table 2, entries 2 and 3).

Scheme 11



Tri-*O*-benzyl-D-arabino-1,4-lactone **27** has also been successfully transformed into methylene derivative **99** in 72% yield (Table 2, entry 4).⁶¹ Dioxolanones derived from sugars were also easily methylenated using the Tebbe reagent.⁶²

Protected D-gluconolactone using benzyl (45) or silyl ethers (52) also gave good yields of **108** and **109**, respectively (Table 2, entries 8 and 10).⁶⁰ 2-Deoxy-1,5-lactones also reacted cleanly at low temperature with Tebbe reagent to afford the corresponding methylene derivative **115** in 82% yield (Table 2, entry 14).⁶³ In the same paper, Sinaÿ et al. described the enol ether **117** derived from methylenation of a methyl ester **116** at -45 °C in 80% yield (Table 2, entry 15). Interestingly, a pivaloyl ester present in this compound was not affected in the reaction. This shows that acetate-protected lactones are not suitable substrates, in contrast to the dichloromethylenation reaction.

Failures in the attempted Tebbe methylenation of ester⁶⁴ and aldonolactones have been reported. In another paper, Ali et al. reported the use of an unpurified form of the Tebbe reagent **91**.⁶⁵ Although identical results were obtained with tetra-*O*-benzyl-D-gluconolactone with the crude reagent, some lactones such as γ -lactones furnished mixtures of the expected olefins and of the water-addition resulting products. This held for the ribonolactone derivative **20**, which gave the ketose derivative **93** in addition to the methylene derivative **92**. Chromatography was also responsible for the formation of the same compounds. The bicyclic lactone **100** derived from

Table 2. Methylenation of Some Lactones



Table 2 (Continued)



^a Reaction conditions: (A) **91**, THF or toluene/THF, -78 °C; (B) **103**, toluene, 65-70 °C.

D-glucurono-6,3 lactone also gave mainly the ketose derivative **101** instead of the expected olefin. Compound **102**, arising from over-methylenation of the intermediate ketose, was also observed (Table 2, entry 5).

The observed side reactions were suppressed when going to dicyclopentadienyl dimethyl titanium reagent **103**,⁷⁰ introduced by Petasis for the methylenation of ketones, aldehydes, and esters.^{71,72} In contrast to the Tebbe reagent, this aluminum-free reagent operates at high temperature of 60-70 °C in toluene.

Csuk and Glänzer established the usefulness of this reagent in carbohydrate chemistry.⁶⁶ D-Mannono-, D-erythrono-, and D-arabino-1,4 lactone were cleanly methylenated in 64–85% yield. It is interesting to note that glucurono-6,3-lactone **104** or the 5-deoxy analogue **106** reacted successfully under these conditions to provide 87% of the methylene derivatives **105** and **107**, respectively (Table 2, entries 6 and 7). The efficiency of the two reagents **103** and **91** is almost the same, as shown by the reaction of lactone **45**, giving **108** in 89% yield (Table 2, compare entries 8 and 9). Tetra-*O*-benzyl-D-mannono-1,5-lactone was also efficiently converted to the 1-*C*methylene derivative using **103**.⁷³

Excellent results were also obtained by Grouiller using the same reagent and 1,4-lactones derived from D-ribose and D-arabinose.⁷⁴ No hydration products, observed in the Tebbe reaction, were detected in this case. Finally, methylene *exo*-glycals suitable for ketosides formation have been reported.⁷⁵

It is worthy of note that methylene derivatives, especially those derived from furanoses, are hydrolytically unstable and can be hydrolyzed upon chromatography. Not unexpectedly, disubstituted methylene derivatives are by far more stable.

Interestingly, other reagents have been described for the alkylidenation of esters, such as the Takai⁷⁶ and Takeda⁷⁷ reagents.⁵⁸ The first one is generally prepared in situ from a *gem*-dibromo compound, titanium tetrachloride, and zinc in the presence of TMEDA and/or lead(II) chloride. Poor results have been obtained with aliphatic lactones because of the formation of an open-chain ketone, together with the expected enol ether.⁷⁸ To the best of our knowledge, no use of this reagent with sugar lactones has yet been reported. One successful use of this reagent in the methylenation of carbohydrate-derived ester, where Tebbe reagent was ineffective, has been reported.⁶⁴ Takai's method would be of interest for the synthesis of substituted *exo*-glycals, which are not accessible by the Wittig olefination with unstabilized ylides.

Titanium alkylidenes, reported first by Takeda,⁷⁷ are built from titanocene dichloride and dithioacetals in the presence of magnesium and triethyl phosphite. These reagents successfully transform esters into enol ethers. Here again, no reports of their use in carbohydrate chemistry have appeared, although this method should find many applications.

2.2. Stepwise Olefination Methods

2.2.1. Addition–Elimination Reactions

In contrast with the above methods, this approach involves at least two independent steps. In such a sequence, a suitable leaving group, located either on the carbon linked to the anomeric center or at the anomeric center introduced in the first step of the synthetic sequence, undergoes elimination in a subsequent step.

The earliest example for *C*-glycosylidene synthesis is a stepwise synthesis based on the first strategy, frequently used for the synthesis of 5,6-unsaturated sugars.⁹ This synthesis started with ester **118**, obtained via cyanation of tetra-O-acetyl- α -D-galactosyl bromide. A standard protection-deprotection sequence and ester reduction led to the tosylate 119 in about four steps. Tosylate substitution with sodium iodide gave the iodo derivative 120. Treatment with silver fluoride in pyridine promoted olefin formation in 94% yield. Subsequent deacetylation gave the target compound 121. This strategy allowed the synthesis of ¹⁴C-labeled **121** by using Na¹⁴CN for the cyanation reaction. Along the same lines, an exoglycal 122 bearing an epoxide at position 2,3, a potential affinity labeling compound of hydrolases, has been prepared by a stepwise procedure involving iodohydric acid elimination.⁷⁹ In a search for exoglycals as probes for establishment of a glycohydrolase mechanism, unsaturated nitrile 126 and two other olefins, 130 and 131, have been reported by the same group.^{80a} The known aldehyde 123^{80b} was converted to a mixture of alcohols 124, which were elaborated to the bromides 125. These compounds were then treated with silver fluoride in pyridine to provide a mixture of unsaturated nitriles. Only the Z isomer can be deacetylated to give **126**. The deuterated analogue was obtained in the same way after equilibration of bromides 125 in D_2O . It is interesting to note that the double bond of 126 could

Scheme 12



not be hydrated in acidic medium and required high concentrations of galactosidase from Escherichia coli to be hydrated. To investigate the mechanism of this enzymic reaction, the stereochemically defined exoglycal 130 and its labeled counterpart were prepared starting from acid 127, obtained by cyanation of a galactopyranosyl bromide derivative. This sequence involved a one-carbon homologation by condensation of the corresponding acyl chloride with Meldrum's acid. Subsequent decarboxylation gave the methyl ketone 129, which was then reduced to a separable mixture of alcohols. Tosylation of the alcohol or bromination followed by elimination and deprotection gave the Z isomer **130**. Specific deuteration was accomplished by reduction of the benzylated analogue of ketone with LiAlD₄. Further treatment as above gave olefin 131. The gluco analogue of 131 has been prepared in 12 steps by the same route.⁸¹ Although these syntheses proceeded by rather lengthy sequences, the products so obtained were of invaluable help for biochemical studies.⁸² These exo-glycals were readily hydrated by β -galactosidase, and degradation studies established unambiguously the stereochemical course of the enzymic hydration, which proceeded from the β face of the sugar enol.⁸³ It is clear that they are substrates of galactosidases, and the geometrical analogy of exo-glycals with oxonium ion suggests that some of them could be enzyme inhibitors. Until now, this aspect of *exo*-glycal properties has been poorly investigated.

A similar strategy based on the elimination of a *C*-glycosyl compound was found applicable to seleno-*C*-glycosyl derivatives.⁸⁴ The seleno compounds were easily obtained by selenium-mediated 6-*exo-trig* ring closure of 6-hydroxy-olefins. Oxidation to the corresponding selenoxide led to smooth elimination of selenophenol and formation of the *exo*-glycal **108** in 90% yield.

The first examples of functionalized *C*-glycosylidene compounds were reported by Trost and Runge.⁸⁵ These authors pointed out in their paper that lactone **133** "resisted all attempts to react with Wittig or Emmons–Wadsworth–Horner reagents". Thus, two stepwise procedures were devised. The first one took advantage of a cycloaddition reaction



between the carbonyl group of lactone **133** and ynamines according to the chemistry developed by Ficini et al.⁸⁶ An excellent yield of unsaturated amide **134** was obtained. It is clear that this approach did not allow the introduction of an ester group, the corresponding oxygenated reagent being unavailable.

Nucleophilic addition on sugar lactones is well documented. The tertiary alcohol formed in this step can be reduced to produce *C*-glycoside.^{87–97} It is conceivable that dehydration of the primary adduct of a carbanion on a sugar lactone will lead to unsaturated compounds if an acidic proton is present on the newly introduced carbon chain.

Scheme 14



Accordingly, a two-step sequence was devised by Trost et al., starting with lithio *tert*-butyl acetate condensation on lactone **133**, giving a stable β -hydroxy ester.⁸⁵ Analogous reaction on lactones were already known.¹⁴ Subsequent mesylation of the tertiary alcohol in the presence of DBU led to olefin **135**, obtained as a 2:1 *E*/*Z* mixture as shown by NMR.

Many developments of this strategy appeared over the years. For example, simple sugar lactones have been transformed into *exo*-glycals by Csuk and Glänzer, using a Reformatsky-type reaction instead of a low-yielding condensation of lithio acetate derivative.⁶⁶ According to this procedure, olefins **137** and **138** were obtained in 81% and 79% yield, respectively.

Scheme 15



In 2001, two papers by Lin et al. described the reaction of sugar lactones with allyl Grignard reagent. Subsequent treatment with trifluoroacetic anhydride of adduct **139** provided the expected dienes **140** in 60–90% yield.⁹⁸ The reactions were performed on *tert*-butyldimethysilyl ether-protected lactones in different series. Accordingly, 1,5-lactones derived from glucose or galactose as well as 1,4-lactones in the same series can be transformed into dienes.

From the primary adduct 139, it was also shown that ozonolysis of the double bond led to the corresponding aldehyde 141, which underwent the same dehydration reaction to provide C-glycosylidene aldehydes **142** of *Z* configuration. In a second paper, the same group reported the condensation of ester-, phosphonate-, sulfonate-, or benzyl-derived carbanions on lactone to give ketoses 143. Such nucleophilic addition occurred on tetra-O-benzyl-D-glucono-1,5lactone 45 in 80–90% yield.⁹⁹ Subsequent elimination was promoted by trifluoroacetic anhydride to furnish exo-glycals 144. A route to conjugated exo-glycals was described starting from allyl adduct, exemplified in the gluco series. Ozonolysis of the double bond gave aldehyde 145, further homologated by Wittig reaction to α,β -unsaturated nitrile, ketone, aldehyde, and esters 146 (E/Z mixture). Subsequent dehydration led to a single *Z* isomer **147** with a four-carbon anomeric chain, including two conjugated double bonds.

The high stereocontrol of these dehydration reactions was explained by formation of an oxonium ion upon treatment with trifluoroacetic anhydride. Subsequent double bond formation then occurred by proton abstraction at C1' (on the chain).¹⁰⁰ A transition state minimizing steric interactions between the Scheme 16







147

 $R = CN, COCH_3, CHO, COOEt$

C2 substituent (*O*-benzyl group) and the substituent on the anomeric chain is favored over the other, which places the substituent on the ring oxygen side. Probably stereoelectronic reasons should also be taken into account to explain the high stereoselection in the mannose series where the steric hindrance is lower, the C2 substituent being located upside. This may also be compared with results obtained in the same series by Taylor using the Ramberg–Bäcklund rearrangement of anomeric sulfones summarized in the following.¹⁰¹

Anomeric chloro-nitro sugars such as 148 have been reacted with the carbanion of nitromethane and diethyl malonate.¹⁰² With the latter, subsequent β elimination led to disubstituted exo-glycals 149. The reaction of thio- γ -O-lactones such as **150** with ethyl diazomalonate also gave *exo*-glycals such as **149**.⁴⁷ Treatment of the same compound with ethyl diazoacetate in the presence of rhodium catalyst gave a mixture of *E* and *Z* ethyl analogues of **65**. In all the above strategies, a carbanion is condensed on a sugar lactone. The reverse approach involves the condensation of anomeric carbanions on a suitable electrophile. Some examples have been reported by Vasella¹⁰³ using 1-nitro sugars. Anomeric enolates have been condensed with complex sugar-derived aldehydes for the construction of C-disaccharidic structures via reduction of intermediate exo-glycals.¹⁰⁴ This approach found applications en route to herbicidin.^{105,106} Further details on these papers can be found in an excellent review by Somsak on anomeric carbanions.¹⁰⁷

Scheme 18



2.2.2. Ramberg–Bäcklund Olefination

The preparation of olefins from sulfone via the Ramberg-Bäcklund rearrangement is a long-known reaction.¹⁰⁸ The basic principle of this reaction is to use a dissymmetric sulfone which is halogenated at one α position. Treatment with base generates a carbanion at the other α position. Internal carboncarbon bond formation occurs via episulfone formation, followed by sulfur dioxide elimination to form the carbon-carbon double bond. Sulfones are rather readily available compounds, and efficient protocols to promote the Ramberg-Bäcklund rearrangement by in situ halogenation and subsequent base treatment have been proposed.¹⁰⁹ Two groups have applied this methodology, almost simultaneously, to the synthesis of exo-glycals. Anomeric sulfones are easily available by oxidation of thioglycosides, the latter being well-studied compounds as key intermediates in glycosylation reactions.^{110–112} Some examples of *C*-glycosylidene available via this method are given below. Using methyl sulfone 152, easily prepared from 151, exo-methylene sugar 108 was obtained by Taylor et al.^{101,113} This method is an alternative to



Tebbe methylenation. Yields up to 72% were obtained in the Ramberg-Bäcklund rearrangement. Depending on the reaction conditions, halogenated species such as 155 can be isolated in 15-32% yields. More interesting maybe is the synthesis of disubstituted exo-glycals starting from more complex sulfones such as 153, which rearranged to 154, obtained as an 88: 12 Z/E mixture in 94% yield. This strategy has been applied to the synthesis of a number of compounds, starting from different sugar sulfones obtained from D-glucose, D-galactose, and D-arabinose. The Z/E ratio was mainly in favor of the former. More stereoselective was the formation of olefin 156 in the mannose series, which gave only the *Z* isomer. Even disubstituted *exo*-glycals were obtained accordingly but in lower yields. It is also interesting to note that both anomeric sulfones can be used in this process but led to a different *Z*/*E* ratio of the *exo*-glycal. The stereochemical course of the Ramberg-Bäcklund rearrangement has been discussed in detail.¹¹³ This should be compared with the results obtained by Lin et al., who obtained only Z isomers in the gluco series.¹⁰⁰

Scheme 20



Highly complex *exo*-glycals can be prepared by this method. One example came from Taylor's group, who described the synthesis of a *C*-disaccharide based on this approach.¹¹⁴ The synthesis started from compound **108**, which was transformed into the iodo-methyl *C*-glycoside **157**. Coupling of the latter with tetra-*O*-benzylthio glucose **158** gave sulfide **159**. Oxidation to the sulfone **160**, followed by Ramberg–Bäcklund rearrangement, gave the olefin **161** in 48% yield (Z/E 91:9). Subsequent stereoselective reduction of the double bond and removal of the benzyl



ether groups led to the target *C*-isotrehalose **162**. Franck's group has also developed the same approach. A series of benzylic *C*-glycosides has been prepared via *S*-glycosylation of different substrates, including 2-deoxy ones.¹¹⁵ Oxidation to the sulfones, followed by Ramberg–Bäcklund rearrangement, gave E/Z mixtures of the expected *exo*-glycals. Subsequent reduction of the double bond gave β -*C*-glycosides in the gluco and manno series.¹¹⁵ More complex *exo*-glycals en route to complex *C*-glycosides such as *C*-glycerolipids of *N*-acetyl glucosamine,¹¹⁶ and *C*-glycosyl porphyrines, have been prepared from *C*-glycosylated benzaldehyde derivatives.¹¹⁷

Along the same lines, the construction of a complex exo-glycal, incorporating a protected chiral amino alcohol, has been described by Ichikawa and Ohnishi.¹¹⁸ The rearrangement of 164, performed under Franck conditions,¹¹⁶ required replacement of the acetyl protecting group of 163 by less basesensitive silvl ethers. The rearrangement proceeded in 38% yield only, giving the Z isomer 165. Reduction of the double bond gave the β -C-glycoside, which was further elaborated to the serine glucosamidine analogue **166**. It is interesting to compare this approach with the construction of the same type of assembly of glucose and serine, also taking advantage of the Ramberg-Bäcklund rearrangement performed between a β -C-glycoside of glucose and a thiol.¹¹⁹ In this case, the rearrangement proceeded one carbon away from the anomeric center, also in modest yield. The construction of unsaturated C-glycosyl compounds and 1,6-*C*-disaccharides using this strategy has been reported recently.¹²⁰

2.2.3. Miscellaneous Methods

Examples of *exo*-glycal formation by reductive elimination of benzoylated fructo- or sorbopyranosyl bromides have been reported.¹²¹ Competitive elimi-

Scheme 22



nation of benzoate at position 3, forming *endo*-glycals, was also observed.

Although the method was not initially devised to construct this type of substrates, the formation of exoglycals has been reported by Nakai.¹²² Treatment of the vinyl ketose 167, readily obtained from tetra-Obenzyl-D-glucose, with trimethyl silylpropargyl alcohol in the presence of montmorillonite K10 and 4-Å molecular sieves gave the α -glycoside **168**. The latter underwent [2,3]-Wittig rearrangement on treatment with butyllithium from -78 to 60 °C to give the olefin **169** in 92% yield as the Z isomer. The main interest for the authors lay in the transmission of asymmetry on the newly created chiral center. Ozonolysis of the double bond followed by reduction gave chiral alcohol 170 in up to 95% ee. The same rearrangement could be performed with a substituted olefin (propenyl instead of vinyl) to provide *exo*-glycals with two chiral centers on the newly created appendage. The high functionality of the chain introduced in the *exo*-glycal chain makes this method attractive for the synthesis of complex C-glycosides and natural molecules.

The synthesis of *C*-glycosylidene dienes has been developed by Praly et al. using radical chemis-

Scheme 23



try.^{123,124} Exploiting the chemistry of glycopyranosyl dihalides, a modified Keck radical allylation of the bromochloro derivative **171** gave the α -chloro- β -*C*-glycosyl derivative **172** in 34–86% yield, depending on the starting hexose. Upon treatment with DBU, elimination occurred, giving the corresponding *exo*-glycal of *Z* configuration (~40% yield), as shown from NMR data and NOE measurements. Removal of the acetate was cleanly achieved in basic medium to give **173**, establishing the stability of these compounds in basic medium.

Scheme 24



An interesting approach to 1-*C*-methylene sugars has been proposed, based on the treatment of tosyl hydrazones under Bamford–Stevens conditions.¹²⁵ These hydrazones were obtained from anomeric cyanide.¹²⁶ The reaction conditions are compatible with the presence of acyl protecting groups, as shown for the preparation of *exo*-glycal **176** from **174**. Recently, Lopez proposed a stepwise route to *exo*-

Scheme 25



glycal having an epoxide function at position 2,3 of the sugar ring.¹²⁷ This route started from *C*-glycal **178**, obtained by reaction of organometallics on the 1-chloro mannosyl derivative **177**. The 3-hydroxyglucal was subjected to bromine addition, followed by base-induced hydrogen bromide elimination. Fair to good yields of olefins **179** were obtained. The chemistry of these compounds was investigated and led to other classes of *exo*-glycals. Standard epoxide opening of **179** afforded the corresponding diols **180**.





More interestingly, compounds **179** were treated with nucleophiles in the presence of a palladium catalyst to afford substituted *C*-glycals **181**, but this reaction did not proceed with tetrasubstituted olefinic compounds **179**. Epoxy-*exo*-glycals can undergo further bromine addition and subsequent hydrogen bromide elimination to yield a monobromo olefin. Subsequent epoxide opening and acylation gave **182**. This compound can be used in a Suzuki coupling process with substituted aromatics-derived boronic acids.¹²⁸ This sequence opens the way to a new class of *exo*-glycals obtained in a single, yet unknown isomeric form of **183**. Open-chain olefins can usually be obtained by

Scheme 27



controlled Wittig elongation of lactols. Further electrophilic cyclization using iodine and sodium carbonate gave the 2-iodoheptonate.^{129,130} When this method was applied to 1,2–5,6-di-*O*-isopropylidene-mannofuranose, subsequent dehydroiodination gave *exo*-glycal **137***Z*. The same compound has been obtained by the same group also using acyclic sugar aldehyde **184**, which was reacted with α -diazoester.¹³¹ The resulting alcohol **185** was subsequently cyclized to the 2-diazo-3,6-anhydrooctanoate **186** on silica gel. Upon treatment with rhodium acetate, this compound yielded **137***Z* as a single isomer. These two methods were not designed primarily to produce *exo*-glycals but could find applications in this field.

Scheme 28



Wacker oxidation of such an open-chain olefin obtained from arabinose has been reported to give a mixture of the methyl ketoside and the corresponding *exo*-glycal.¹³²

Electrophilic cyclization of open-chain sugar olefin has been proposed to form *exo*-glycals and their hetero analogues.^{133a} Olefination of reducing sugar **187** according to Sinay's procedure^{133b} gave the openchain olefin **188**. Treatment with *N*-iodosuccinimide, followed by DBU-catalyzed elimination, gave *exo*glycal **99**. Interestingly, other so-called heteroglycals **192** and **193**, having nitrogen or sulfur atoms in the ring, were prepared by cyclization of the corresponding amino and thio derivatives **190** and **191** by the above-mentioned procedure. Analogously, stepwise iodocyclization of a 4-pentene-1,2-diol, followed by iodohydric acid elimination, has been proposed to prepare a 1-*C*-methylene *exo*-glycal, further elabo-

Scheme 29



rated to 1'-C-fluoromethyl-dideoxy-cytidine under the action of Selectfluor. $^{\rm 134}$

3. Synthetic Uses of exo-Glycals

The *exo*-glycal double bond is expected to have a good reactivity, mainly governed by the presence of the ring oxygen substituent. It is clear that electrophilic addition on this electron-rich double bond would be facilitated by formation of a stabilized intermediate oxonium ion. This reactivity should be rather different on *exo*-glycals tri- or tetrasubstituted with electron-withdrawing substituents. This new type of captodative olefinic system should present unexpected reactivity, which needs to be explored. Several examples aiming at the use of *exo*-glycals in the syntheses of more complex structures have appeared, as summarized below.

3.1. Synthesis of C-Glycosyl Compounds

C-Glycoside formation from *exo*-glycals is probably one of the first motivations to investigate the chemistry of these compounds. Although there is a large number of available methods to construct *C*-glycosyl derivatives, ¹³⁵ an approach via *C*-glycosylidene would have some advantages. One advantage would be a high stereocontrol of the double bond reduction due to the sugar template effect. The second would be an access to new type of *C*-glycosides incorporating functional groups which would be impossible to introduce by known *C*-glycosylation methods. Finally, double bond functionalizations would be a unique way to obtain new types of carbohydrate analogues.

3.1.1. Double Bond Reduction

The simple reduction of the double bond of *exo*glycals has been largely investigated. Introduction of a methyl group at the anomeric position in a stereocontrolled manner is not a straightforward operation. Most methods rely on methyllithium addition on the aldehyde, followed by tetrahydrofuran or tetrahydropyran formation using nucleophilic displacement.^{136–138}

The reduction of *exo*-methylene derivatives obtained via Tebbe olefination of lactones gave obviously the corresponding 1-*C*-methyl glycoside.^{12,60} In our group, we also investigated the reduction of the dihalomethylene moiety obtained via the Wittig or Wittig-type dichloromethylenation as a way to prepare the same compounds. Standard catalytic hydrogenation did not give satisfactory results, mainly due to hydrochloric acid formation during this process. After some experimentation, it was found to be more convenient to use Raney nickel in ethyl acetate. Good to excellent yields of 1-*C*-methyl compounds were obtained.

To illustrate this reaction, two examples are given below. The first one shows the use of dichloroolefins for the synthesis of muscarine, a chiral naturally occurring tetrahydrofuran.¹³⁹ Other examples will be related to the construction of *C*-glycosides of fucose using the same methodology.

The synthesis of muscarine started with D-mannonolactone-derived dichloroolefin **16**. The first reaction takes advantage of the presence of the dichloromethylene moiety, which makes the allylic proton acidic enough to be abstracted by bases, allowing the splitting of the isopropylidene ring to form the ketone **194**.^{11,140} Reduction with Raney nickel gave **195** as the major isomer, together with its C2–C3 epimer (9:1). Several steps led to epimuscarine **196**, and to muscarine **197** after Mitsunobu inversion at C3.

Scheme 30



Another synthesis of muscarine derivatives has been recently disclosed, based on the reduction of a methylene *exo*-glycal obtained by a tedious five-step process from (*S*)-(-)-5-hydroxy-2(5*H*)-furanone.¹⁴¹ The *exo*-glycal was obtained by Tebbe methylenation of the lactone, carried out at -40 °C in a THF/toluene and pyridine mixture. Catalytic reduction of the double bond over Raney nickel under pressure (2 bar) gave an almost 1:1 mixture of epimers in 78% yield for the two steps.

Raney nickel reduction of standard dichloroolefins has been investigated.¹⁷ It should be noted that reduction of **14** or **16** is by far more selective, giving only one *C*-glycoside with the methyl group syn to the dioxolane ring. In the ribo series, the reduction of **21** or **19**, a 9:1 ratio of both diastereoisomers was formed due to some steric hindrance by the C6 protecting group.

In the pyranose series, interesting results were also obtained. Reduction of the gluco derivative **46** with Raney nickel was also selective, giving the 1-*C*-methyl β derivative; i.e., the methyl group is now anti to the C3 neighboring group. This can be explained by the distorted conformation of **46**, which allowed approach of the catalyst by the α less hindered face.

In the manno series, a syn relationship between the C2 methyl group and the dioxolane ring was found upon reduction of olefin **49**. This is illustrated below with the synthesis of an analogue of guanosyl diphosphofucose.¹⁴² Reduction of **49** gave the *C*glycoside **198** as a single isomer. Looking at this compound in a different way, the methyl group introduced at C1 of a D-mannose derivative now became the C6 methyl group of a L-fucose derivative, having a hydroxymethyl group at the anomeric position. Standard iodination of the primary hydroxyl group led to **199**, which was coupled with the appropriate thioglycolic acid and then with a guanosine derivative to produce, after deprotection, the GDP





analogue **200**. This stratagem enlarged the repertoire of *C*-glycoside formation reactions.¹⁴³ It would have been more tedious to start from L-fucose and to introduce a hydroxymethyl group at the anomeric position.

It is interesting to note that the reduction of difluoro-*exo*-glycals gave difluoromethyl-*C*-glyco-sides.^{20,21}

exo-Glycals **63**–**75**, obtained according to our different Wittig procedures, can be easily catalytically reduced to *C*-glycosides.³⁸ In most cases this reduction proved highly stereoselective. The stereochemical course of the reduction follows some tendencies. For example, in the glucopyranose series, the β -anomer is formed preferentially,¹¹⁵ if not exclusively,^{33,51,114b,116–119,144} likely due to conformational bias. No direct influence of the substituent at C2 (carbohydrate numbering) was found, 2-deoxy derivatives giving almost exclusively the β -*C*-glycoside.^{56,115} In

Scheme 32



the furanose series, the reduction is also stereoselective and governed by the substituent orientation α to the double bond, the major reduction product being in a cis relationship with this substituent.³⁸ Reduction of 2-deoxy compounds **90** gave an almost 1:1 mixture of anomers.⁵⁵

Some examples of the formation of *C*-glycosides by catalytic reduction of *exo*-glycals have been already described in section II, most of the cited papers dealing with the synthesis of these compounds.

3.1.2. Double Bond Functionalization

Functionalization of *exo*-glycal double bond has been intensively investigated. Introduction of a sulfur atom on the double bond of **108** has been reported by Gervay et al.¹⁴⁵ Radical addition of thioacetic acid allowed the formation of the thioacetyl derivative **202** in 83% yield.

Hydroboration of olefin **108** using 9-BBN, followed by hydrogen peroxide treatment, has been reported to yield the β -*C*-glucopyranoside derivative **201** in 94% yield.⁶⁰ Hydroboration of the 3,4-di-*O*-(4-methoxybenzyl) analogue of **108** under the same conditions also gave the β -*C*-glycoside, but the use of borane–THF complex gave an inseparable mixture of α - and β -*C*-glycoside in a 1:2 ratio.¹⁴⁶ The two compounds have been used in the synthesis of inositol phosphates analogues.¹⁴⁷ These procedures allows facile introduction of a one-carbon functional group at the anomeric center with excellent stereocontrol. The corresponding iodo derivative **157** has been prepared by treatment of **201** with Garegg's reagent (Ph₃P, I₂, imidazole).¹¹⁹

The same type of transformation has been proposed as a means to perform sugar homologation.⁶² As an example, dioxolanone **54**, derived from D-gluconolactone, was methylenated with Tebbe reagent to give compound **203** in high yield. Hydroboration—oxidation of this particular *exo*-glycal gave a heptose derivative **204** in 68% yield with up to 98% diastereoselectivity.

Scheme 33



This procedure has been used to convert D-glucose into the AB ring system of ciguatoxin.⁶⁹ Tebbe methylenation of the corresponding lactone gave **113**. Subsequent hydroboration with BH₃–THF complex gave a mixture of two anomers in 80% yield. In contrast with the above-cited reports, the α anomer **208** was obtained as the major isomer (1.8:1). In light of the above-mentioned reduction reactions of sixmembered-ring *exo*-glycal, it is likely that the pyranose ring adopts a more or less distorded boat conformation, making more accessible the α face and leading to β derivatives. The formation of **208** could be explained by the presence of the bulky *tert*-butyl dimethyl silyl ether at O2, which, in such a distorted boat conformation, lies in an axial orientation and impedes the approach of the reagent from the α face. Interestingly, 9-BBN, a bulkier and more stereose-lective reagent, did not react. Simply exchanging the

Scheme 34



bulky silyl ethers group for a cyclic silyl ether system as in **205** dramatically changed the stereochemical course of the hydroboration reaction. Thus, alcohols **207** and **209** were formed in a 9:1 ratio with BH₃– THF complex, whereas 9-BBN gave rise only to the formation of **207** in 85% yield. This alcohol was further homologated to an allyl group, which was engaged in a ring-closing metathesis reaction with an acrylate group to form a seven-membered unsaturated lactone. The latter was further engaged in the same reaction sequence to form the A ring of ciguatoxin. Other synthetic uses of *exo*-glycal hydroboration in Suzuki coupling reaction will be discussed in the next section.

Very recently, the tetrahydrofuran C ring of the cytotoxic polyether macrolide halicondrin has been constructed by this Tebbe methylenation-hydroboration sequence applied to a fused furano 1,4-lactone.¹⁴⁸

Functionalization of disubstituted *exo*-glycals would create a new asymmetric center next to the anomeric position. For example, the Z olefin **154**, obtained through the Ramberg–Bäcklund rearrangement, has been subjected to a hydroboration–oxidation sequence (BH₃–THF), providing the two diastereomeric alcohols **210** and **211** (3:1 ratio) in 65% yield.^{114b,144} It is interesting to note that this reaction is less stereoselective, in contrast with the reported hydroboration of unsubstituted *exo*-glycal. It is likely that the phenyl ring plays a role in the control of the borane approach. This was confirmed by the absence of reaction of **154** with the bulkier 9-BBN. Disubsti-

Scheme 35



tuted *exo*-glycals are less reactive than *C*-methylene compounds. In particular, dihaloolefins proved difficult to functionalize efficiently. These compounds are very stable toward aqueous acid or base and cannot be hydrated. For example, acetonide groups of dichloroolefins such as **14** or **16** can be removed without affecting the olefinic bond.

Radical reactions were efficient for the functionalization of the difluoroolefins such as **15**.^{149,150} Phosphonyl and thiophosphonyl radicals added to the difluoro double bond to yield the corresponding difluorophosphonates **212** (X = O) and difluorothiophosphonates **212** (X = S) in good yields.^{149,150} This reaction has been used in the galactofuranose series to produce a β -*C*-glycosyl phosphonate.¹⁵¹ Other ap-

Scheme 36



proaches to *C*-glycosides formation, based on the reduction of ketose hemiacetals formed by chemical manipulation of the *exo*-glycal double bond, are given in the following.

3.1.3. Chain Extension by New Carbon–Carbon Bond Formation

The search for new methods of carbon–carbon bond formation from *exo*-glycals is of interest since it would open the way to new classes of compounds from readily available intermediates.

The Suzuki coupling of alkyl boranes with vinyl halides or activated enol ether has become a wellestablished method for the construction of complex molecules.^{152,153} Hydroboration of enol ether is a straightforward route to alkyl boranes and has prompted the use of *exo*-glycals as starting enol ethers.

RajanBabu and Reddy explored the reaction of 108 with anylmercuric derivatives in the presence of Pd(II) catalyst to introduce an aryl substituent on the exo-glycal, opening the way to benzyl-C-glycosides.⁶⁰ A related approach took advantage of the facile hydroboration of 108 for carbon-carbon bond construction using Suzuki coupling reactions.^{73,154} As an example, **108** was transformed into benzyl- β -C-glucoside **213** in 67% yield. Only the β anomer was obtained, in line with the results of hydroborationoxidation reactions. Some substituted aryl halides, including 2-bromopyridine, can be used in this reaction with yields between 21% and 82%. Interestingly, using this coupling reaction, 1,3,5-tribromobenzene can be "*C*-glycosylated" three times, opening the way to aromatic ring-based multivalent scaffolds. Application of this strategy to a more complex vinyl bromide **214**, obtained from bromobenzene, has been reported.^{67,154} exo-Glycal 111, obtained in 79% from the corresponding lactone using Petasis reagent, was coupled with vinyl bromide **214** to give the β -anomer

215 in 73% yield. Further manipulation of the double bond of **215** led to the synthesis of a complex aza-*C*-disaccharides (see also ref 73). A vinyl iodide derived

Scheme 37



from Garner aldehyde has been coupled with the β -*C*-organoborane obtained by treatment of **108** with 9-BBN in 78% yield.¹¹⁹ This opened the way to *C*-glycosyl analogues of glycosyl amino acids.

Coupling of enol triflates derived from 1,5-lactones with alkylborane reagent obtained from **111** has also been reported in relation with ciguatoxin total synthesis.⁶⁸ *exo*-Glycal **111** was treated with 9-BBN to give the β -*C*-glycoside **216**. In situ coupling with enol triflate **217**, under palladium catalysis, provided the *C*-disaccharide **218** in 61% yield over the two steps. Triphenylarsine was employed as a co-ligand in this reaction. Alkyl boranes have been also generated starting from 5,6-unsaturated hexoses¹⁵⁵ or other seven-membered-ring *exo*-glycals.^{156,157}

Scheme 38



Several alkylboranes obtained from sugar lactones have been coupled with enol triflates derived from 2,3-dideoxy sugars. The *C*-disaccharides obtained in this way proved interesting substrates for further elaboration into fused polyether frameworks present in marine toxins such as brevetoxins, ciguatoxins, or maitotoxins.^{158–160} The synthesis of *C*-disaccharides using *exo*-glycals as key intermediates has been already mentioned.^{114b} This type of carbohydrate mimics has been prepared by Nicotra by simple treatment of the *C*-methylene derivative **108** with a Lewis acid, BF₃-Et₂O.¹⁶¹ This reaction should proceed via formation of an oxonium cation from **108**, attacked from the α face by another molecule of **108** to give the *C*-disaccharide **219** in 66% yield.

Scheme 39



As mentioned above, difluoro-*exo*-glycals behave as good radical acceptors. This has been exploited by Motherwell et al. to synthesize difluoromethylene-*C*-glycosides using alkyl radicals.¹⁶² The addition of nucleophilic radicals on **17** was rather sluggish, giving the *C*-glycosides **220** in about 20–40% yield, together with some recovered starting material. In this manno series, only the β anomer was formed due to trapping of the intermediate anomeric radical by the less hindered α face. Electrophilic radicals can also be used more efficiently. For example, the radical obtained from ethyl bromoacetate and tri-*n*-butyltin hydride added to difluoroolefin **15** in 51% yield. The yield was lower with olefin **53** (27%), which did not react with nucleophilic radicals.

By using carbohydrate-derived nucleophilic radicals, a new class of *C*-disaccharides can be prepared.¹⁶³ This is illustrated with the synthesis of the *C*-disaccharide **222** starting from *exo*-glycal **15** and the radical derived from iodide **221**. Only the α

Scheme 40



anomer was obtained in 40% yield. Again, trapping of the intermediate anomeric radical from the less hindered face can be invoked to explain this result. The addition of malonyl radicals on *exo*-glycals **108** and **99** has been reported.⁶ Radical were obtained by reaction of tri-*n*-butyltin hydride with ethyl chloromalonate. The yields were only in the 30% range but can be improved using Bu₃SnH slow addition techniques.

This example showed that methylene derivatives such as **108** are poor radical acceptors, even when reacted with electrophilic radicals.¹⁶⁴ Unexpectedly, we have been able to show that tributyltin radicals can add to *C*-methylene sugars.¹⁶⁵ Dichloro-*exo*glycals obtained by our group are very poor radical acceptors. For example, it is possible to carry out radical dechlorination of the double bond of 14 to produce the corresponding *exo*-methylene derivative **223** in 56% yield. This reaction is not possible with benzyl-protected derivatives such as 46 or 28. This two-step sequence is equivalent to direct methylenation of lactones without use of organometallic species. However, we observed that, in the presence of a large excess of tri-*n*-butyltin radicals, new tin-containing products were formed. They were clearly identified as tri-*n*-butyltin methylene-*C*-glycosides such as **224**. These compounds can be obtained by treatment of **223** with excess tri-*n*-butyl hydride in refluxing toluene. A syn arrangement of the two substituents at C1 and C2 was found as a result of anomeric radical trapping from the less hindered face. The use of a catalytic amount of tri-n-butyltin hydride (NaBH₃-CN, Bu₃SnCl) allowed complete suppression of this side product formation.

Scheme 41



An example of chain extension using the Claisen– Ireland rearrangement of 2-acyl *exo*-glycal **225** has been described. This method created a 1-*C*-branched *endo*-glycal derivative **226**.^{166,167}

Finally, intramolecular chain extension leading to cyclic derivatives has been investigated. For example 5-vinyl *exo*-glycal **228**, obtained via the Tebbe methylenation of the corresponding lactone **227**, underwent a triisobutylaluminum hydride-promoted sigmatropic rearrangement¹⁶⁸ into cyclooctene **229**, which was further elaborated into saccharidic mimics.¹⁶⁹ The enol ether function of allyl 5,6-hexenopyranosides has been also involved in such a Claisen rearrangement to construct carbocycles from 5-vinyl *exo*glycals.^{170–172}

Scheme 42



Dichloro-exo-glycals can be used in a cycloaddition reaction with dichlorocarbenes.¹⁷³ This reaction is easily carried out under phase-transfer catalysis and gives excellent yields (70-95%) of the corresponding tetrachlorocyclopropanes such as 230. Here again, benzyl-protected dichloroolefins were found unreactive. Side reactions of carbene species with benzylic hydrogen may explain this failure. Highly chlorinated species 230 can be dechlorinated using lithium aluminum hydride in THF to produce the corresponding cyclopropane 231 in 74% yield. There are only a few routes available to anomeric cyclopropanes,^{174,175} which are interesting tools in glycobiology as potential glycosidase inhibitors.¹⁷⁶ No other examples of cyclopropanation of exo-glycals have been reported so far.

Scheme 43



3.2. Synthesis of Ketoses and Ketosides

The facile hydration of 1-*C*-methylene sugars on silica gel has been previously pointed out. As already mentioned, the electron-rich character of the *C*-glycosylidene double bond promoted several studies of such addition reactions in the presence of an acid catalyst. The net result of water or alcohol addition on the *exo*-glycal double bond is the formation of a ketose or a ketoside, respectively. Although this type of compound is accessible by direct nucleophilic addition on lactones or by transformation of existing ketoses such as fructose or ketogulonic acid, this aspect of *exo*-glycals chemistry is of interest. Indeed, ketoside formation is not a straightforward process, and controlled addition of complex alcohols on *exo*-glycal should afford a good solution to this problem.

The well-developed chemistry of glycals has been applied for the functionalization of both carbons of the double bond of *exo*-glycal.

Dihydroxylation of the *exo*-methylene group using *N*-methylmorpholine oxide and OsO₄ led efficiently to the corresponding ketose in about 70% yield.⁷⁴ This reaction has been generalized to D-manno and D-galacto analogues of **108**, providing the expected diols in up to 90% yields.¹⁷⁷

Iodoglycosylation of *exo*-glycal has been investigated as a way to produce KDO derivatives.⁶³ For example, compound **115** was treated with iodine and potassium *tert*-butoxide in THF/MeOH mixture to give the iodoketoside **232**. Substitution of iodine with cesium carbonate in HMPA at 140 °C gave after saponification the corresponding primary alcohol **233**, which was transformed into the methyl ulosonate **234** using standard procedures. Other examples of ulosonate formation from ketene thioacetals **79** and **80** using *N*-bromosuccinimide and methanol have been described.^{178,179}

Scheme 44



Ketoses can be obtained if water is used instead of methanol. Iodonium *sym*-dicollidine perchlorate (IDCP) has been proposed for the iodohydroxylation of **108**.¹⁸⁰ The iodo derivative **235** can be transformed into epoxide **236** as a single α anomer. The same epoxide was obtained together with the β anomer (α/β ratio 2:3) on epoxidation of **108** with dimethyldioxirane.^{61,145} In the furanose series, *exo*-glycal **99** also gave a mixture of anomeric epoxides.⁶¹

Scheme 45



The iodo derivative **235** has been used for the construction of a β -(1-4)-*C*-disaccharide.¹⁸¹ Treatment of **235** with tri-*n*-butyltin hydride gave the corresponding radical, which added on the enone system of levoglucosenone **237** to give **238**, albeit in low yield. Further reduction of the tertiary hemiacetal yielded the *C*-glycoside **239**. A possible way to introduce an

Scheme 46



oxygen atom at the anomeric center of *exo*-glycal is to involve the double bond in a cycloaddition reaction. The first reported example was a nitrile–oxide cycloaddition on compound **108**, described by Rajan Babu.⁶⁰ This approach led efficiently to the ketose derivative, whereas a carbon atom was introduced on the other carbon. The method has not been thoroughly investigated until recently.

Thus, this procedure has been applied by Lieberknecht to 2-deoxy *exo*-glycal obtained using the anomeric phosphoranes approach.¹⁸² The spiro-isoxazolines obtained in this way are present in some naturally occurring compounds.¹⁸³ We have recently established that such 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition of nitrones and nitrile oxides with *exo*-glycals **63** and **71** was efficiently carried out upon microwave activation or at room temperature, respectively.¹⁸⁴

A 2-keto-*exo*-glycal has been constructed from olefin **240** by using mercury salt-catalyzed heterocyclization according to Sinay's procedure, giving **241**.¹⁸⁵ Oxidation of a free hydroxyl group at C2 promoted β elimination to furnish the 2-keto-*exo*-glycal **242**, spontaneously dimerizing by a hetero-Diels–Alder

Scheme 47



reaction between the activated double bond of one molecule and the enone of the other to provide **243**. The electron-rich character of the *exo*-glycal double bond has been exploited in another inverse-electrondemand hetero-Diels—Alder reaction between a methylene—tetrahydropyran and a butylacrolein. This was a key step for the establishment of the spiroketal unit contained in reveromycin B.¹⁸⁶

The involvement of *exo*-glycals **108** and **99** in such a Diels–Alder reaction with another type of heterodiene obtained from **244** has been reported.^{187,188} Anomeric oxathia-spirocycles **245** and **246** were obtained from **108** in 91% yield using this procedure, allowing introduction of two heteroatoms, oxygen and sulfur, at the same time on the double bond. The use of more complex chiral α, α' -dioxothiones obtained from glycals as electron-poor dienophiles led to 2-thio disaccharides.¹⁸⁹ Recently, compound **108** has been

Scheme 48



used to prepare ketoses, methyl-ketosides, and *C*-glycosides.¹⁹⁰ This approach made use of the addition of episulfonium **247** on the electron-rich double bond of **108**, giving an intermediate oxonium species **248** in equilibrium with a cyclic sulfonium form (not shown). Treatment with water or methanol or reduction with sodium cyanoborohydride led to the ketose **249**, **250**, and **251**, respectively. In each case, among the four possible diastereoisomers, only the



 β anomers were formed. Simple addition of methanol on *exo*-methylene-glycal in acidic medium is an easy way to produce methyl 1-deoxyketoside. This has been applied to the synthesis of the right-hand pyranose ring of FR901464.⁴⁸

Lin et al. reported a preliminary study on alcohol addition to substituted *exo*-glycals.¹⁹¹ Dienic systems and activated double bonds were treated with alcohol in the presence of a Lewis acid. Excellent yields of α glycosides **253** were obtained from **252**. Using the

Scheme 50



dienic system **254**, cyclic compounds can be obtained upon treatment with borane–THF complex, followed by oxidation in acidic medium. A mixture of anomers **255** was obtained. Treatment of the mixture with trifluoroacetic acid only gave the α anomer. The same type of compounds has been prepared in the furanose series.⁹⁸ The same spirocyclic derivatives **255** have already been prepared by Ramberg–Bäcklund rearrangement of a sulfone equipped with a 3-hydroxypropyl appendage.^{114b,144}

Analogous spirocyclic compounds have been prepared from ketosides.¹⁹² An example of this approach is shown below. Starting from enol ether **137***Z*, treatment with *N*-bromosuccinimide in the presence of an alcohol gave the ketoside **256** as a mixture of

Scheme 51



diastereoisomers. Each isomer was separately treated under radical conditions to give the same cyclized product **258** as a single isomer in 85% yield. Some other examples were reported, showing that it is possible to construct tetrahydrofurans or tetrahydropyrans by changing the starting alcohol. The radical cyclization also worked with propargyl derivatives, giving exo-olefins. Radical cyclization on aldehyde **257** was also efficient, producing alcohol **259** in 84% yield. As shown above, addition of simple alcohols on the double bond of exo-glycals is a straightforward route to ketosides. Disaccharides are seldom constructed with ketoses because activation of these sugars is rather difficult. exo-Glycals offer a unique advantage over classical activation in building of complex disaccharides. Ikegami's group has investigated this area, starting from *exo*-methylene derivatives.¹⁹³ Almost quantitative yields of disacharides 260 were obtained from 108 upon triflic acid activation with glucose-derived acceptor free at position 6 and 4. α anomers were formed in all cases, even in the presence of a 2-O-acetyl group. These reactions have been performed using exo-glycals of gluco, manno, and galacto configuration. This disaccharideforming methodology has been applied to substituted exo-glycals derived from 2-deoxy galactose.¹⁹⁴ Catalysts such as BCl₃, HBr-PPh₃, or CSA were used mainly at 0 °C or at room temperature. Good to excellent yields of α anomers were obtained, even with 4-chlorophenyl-substituted exo-glycals.

Scheme 52



In the frame of our research program on the Wittig olefination of sugar lactones, we discovered that activated exo-glycals, i.e., substituted with an ester group like 69, could be prepared in the presence of free hydroxyl groups, which did not interfere with the process.¹⁹⁵ However, when suitably located on the sugar, this free alcohol can add on the activated double bond. When 261 was treated under our Wittig conditions, the expected olefin **262** (43%, Z/E1:1) was formed, together with a compound lacking the hydroxyl group, identified as the bicyclic compound 263 (30%). To confirm that 263 was the result of an intramolecular Michael addition, each isomer of 262 was treated with DBU in refluxing THF to give 263 in 68% and 73% yield, respectively. This was the first time that such a 1,4-addition was carried out on exoglycals. 2,3-O-isopropylidene-D-ribono-1,4-lactone was also submitted to the same Wittig conditions to give **264** in 45% yield. In both cases, a five-membered ring was formed. We have shown that it is also possible to carry out such 1,4-addition of a hydroxyl group on

Scheme 53



activated *exo*-glycals to construct six-membered rings.¹⁹⁵ Application of this new acetal-forming reaction in basic medium has been applied to construct the core acetal ring system of zaragozic acids.¹⁹⁶

While this review was in preparation, an application of the Ferrier rearrangement to *exo*-glycals was disclosed.¹⁹⁷ Reduction of ester **265** gave the corresponding allylic alcohol in 83% yield. This compound or the corresponding acetate **266**, upon treatment with an alcohol under Ferrier conditions (BF₃–Et₂O, 4-Å MS), gave only the α -ketoside **267** in good to excellent yield, even with complex glycosyl acceptors. In the gluco series, the allylic alcohol was used under the same conditions.

Scheme 54



The chemistry of this type of allylic alcohols and acetates has also been investigated in our group. It is interesting to note that furanosyl acetate derived from **282** undergoes allylic rearrangement to a vinyl ketose or ketoside on purification on silica gel.^{198a}

3.3. Synthesis of *N*-Glycosides

Glycosylamines are well-known compounds prepared by reaction of a sugar with an amine. This process is involved in many naturally occurring chemical transformations, such as the Maillard reaction and subsequent rearrangements, producing odiferous and nicely tasting compounds during food cooking. Glycosylamines derived from ketoses are quite rare compounds. Some representatives of this interesting class of compounds have been obtained from *exo*-glycals.

While searching new methods for the functionalization of dichloroolefins. we discovered an efficient sequence leading to anomeric α -amino acids. Thus, epoxidation of dichloroolefins was examined as a possible way to transform the dichloro group into an aldehyde. The first attempted epoxidation of 14 using *m*-chloroperbenzoic acid in dichloromethane led to a set of two products. The structure **269** was tentatively assigned to the first compound. The structure of the second compound 268 proved more difficult to establish. The mechanism of this reaction was unclear for a long time, although we suspected that the formation of **268** should be a radical reaction. In short, it was finally found that the chlorination reaction was an electrophilic addition of chlorine on the double bond, this chlorinating species being produced by the reaction of *m*-CPBA with dichloromethane. This reaction was suppressed by addition of a radical inhibitor. Treatment of 14 with Et₄N-Cl₃¹⁹⁹ gave only 268.200 The use of a radical inhibitor and added methanol gave only **269**. It was concluded that the epoxidation of dichloroolefins by *m*-CPBA is a very slow reaction, probably due to the steric bulk of the chlorine atoms, giving the dichloroepoxide 270. It rearranged quickly to the acyl chloride 271, which reacted with methanol to provide **269**. Because the epoxidation reaction is slow, *m*-CPBA decomposed, probably in a yet unknown radical reaction, and reacted with the solvent to produce a powerful

Scheme 55



chlorinating species (maybe chlorine itself), which reacted promptly with **14** to give **268**.

An application of this serendipitous discovery was the formation of anomeric α azido-ester by simple substitution of the chlorine atom of **269** with sodium azide in DMF. Net inversion of configuration occurred to produce only one isomer, starting from dichloroolefins **14** and **16**.²⁰¹ In the ribo series, mixtures of epimers were obtained because epoxidation took place from both sterically hindered faces of the sugar ring. To illustrate this sequence, a part of the synthesis of hydantocidin, recently disclosed by Shiozaki using our technique, is described below.^{19b,107}

exo-Glycal 24 was treated with m-CPBA in a mixture of dichloromethane and methanol at room temperature to give a mixture of epimers **272** and **273** (1:3.8) in 68% overall yield. The synthesis of hydantocidin was performed on pure 273 by treatment with sodium azide in DMF at room temperature to give the α azido ester **274** in 95% yield. Staudinger reaction of **274** gave the intermediate phosphinimide, which upon treatment with *p*-MeO-phenyl isocyanate gave the diimide 275. Acid hydrolysis and subsequent removal of the *p*-MeO group gave the expected urea that was cyclized into hydantoin in 99% yield on treatment with ammonia in methanol. The final steps involved removal of the benzyl and acetal groups using standard procedures to give hydantocidin 277 in excellent yield. 5-epi-Hydantocidin has been prepared from **272** using the same reaction sequence. It is also interesting to note that anomeric isothio-

Scheme 56



cyanate can be prepared from either **272** or **273** by treatment with potassium thiocyanate in DMF at 80 °C. This new class of *N*-glycoside was also cyclized to the thio analogue of hydantocidin.

The activated double bond of *exo*-glycals **63**, **65**, and congeners should be used in Michael addition. Nitrogen seemed an appropriate nucleophile for such reactions. After some experimentation, we found that 63 reacted smoothly in neat benzylamine to produce a single adduct **278** in excellent yield.²⁰² The benzylamino group was found to be in a trans relationship with the dioxolane ring by NOE measurement and X-ray crystallography. Only one compound was obtained with enoates 63 and 65, but mixture of anomers were obtained in the ribo series. This reaction has been extended to several *exo*-glycals. This approach gave a short entry to a new class of β -amino acids. The high current interest in this type of compounds and assemblies thereof prompted us to examine the reactivity of these sugar-derived amino acids. Thus, hydrogenolysis of the benzyl group led to the free amine obtained as a mixture of anomers due to equilibration. Nevertheless, amide bond formation with an α -amino acid in the presence of PyBOP as the coupling reagent gave almost exclusively the β anomer of the dipeptide **279**. Ester saponification of this compound allowed a second amide bond formation with another α -amino acid using the same procedure to yield **280**. It is interesting to note that saponification of the ester function of **278** did not proceed for yet unexplained reasons. This reaction proceeded well as soon as the amino group was acylated. Complex tetrapeptidic structures



involving alternate β sugar amino acid and standard α amino acids have been prepared by this approach.

Non-peptidic structures can be constructed from these sugar-derived β -amino acids.²⁰⁷ For example, cyclization of a dipeptide such as **279** produces sevenmembered-ring systems such as **281**. Under the given conditions, dimerization may occur, giving 14-membered-ring systems bearing two sugar units. Compounds **281** can be regarded as nucleoside analogues with potential biological properties.

Another entry to complex nucleosides has been provided by electrophilic activation of furano *exo*-glycal by Selectfluor in connection with the synthesis of 1'-*C*-fluoromethyl-dideoxy-cytidine.¹³⁴

4. Outlook

Until now, exo-glycal double bond functionalization mainly focused on the introduction of heteroatoms to construct O-glycosides and N-glycosides. The formation of a carbon-carbon bond has not been thoroughly explored. Maybe the future of this research should concentrate on this point. Clearly, it should be advantageous to find methods allowing construction of more complex exo-glycals from a common, easily accessible platform. This would find applications in the carbohydrate mimics field but also in the more general context of total synthesis. Access to doubly substituted C-glycosidic systems, i.e., C-ketosides,²⁰³ also constitutes a challenging problem. We are currently exploring this problem starting from exo-glycals such as 63. Reduction of the ester group with diisobutylaluminum hydride gave the expected alcohol 282. This allylic alcohol was submitted to Eschenmoser-Claisen rearrangement to give the *C*-glycosylidene **283** in moderate yield. The net result of this reaction can be seen as the 1,4-addition of a vinyl substituent at the anomeric position. This rearrangement took place preferentially from the less hindered β -face of the sugar. As for nitrogen derivatives, 1,4-addition on the activated double bond of 63 should be a useful process to introduce a substituent at the anomeric position. For the moment, all at-

Scheme 58



tempts to carry out cuprate addition on **63** have failed. Nevertheless, nitromethane reacted cleanly in the presence of DBU with **63** to give the bis-*C*glycoside **284** in satisfactory yield.^{198b} The stereochemistry was tentatively assigned as shown, assuming an attack of the reagent from the less hindered face. This approach paves the way to chiral γ -amino acids whose chemistry is not well developed.

Suitable *exo*-glycals could be involved in a metathesis reaction with a given olefin to produce a new *exo*glycal with different substituents. The reactivity of methylene derivatives has been tested by Dötz and co-workers in the reaction with Fischer diphenyl carbene to produce a new anomeric Fischer carbene.^{204,205} Aminolysis of these complexes has been described, but other uses of these new species could be expected. The good reactivity of the *exo*-glycal double bond in a ring-closing metathesis has been attested by the construction of bicyclic systems from 2-olefinic substituted systems.²⁰⁶

5. Conclusion

In conclusion, the synthesis of exo-glycals has found many solutions either by direct olefination or by stepwise reactions. It seems reasonable to say that a wide range of double bond substitutions is now accessible along these two main synthetic routes. The exceptional electronic arrangement of such double bonds confers to exo-glycals unusual chemical properties, which need to be explored experimentally and also theoretically. The chemistry of these new unsaturated sugars has already found interesting developments. Many reactions are centered on the functionalization of the double bond with heteroatoms, but extension of the unsaturated system by carbon-carbon bond formation may provide new sugar systems not yet directly attainable. The high synthetic potential of these compounds for the synthesis of complex structures going from simple Cglycosides to chiral, highly oxygenated, medium-sized carbocycles has been highlighted in the second part of this review. Moreover, the coupling of complex moieties with exo-glycals would provide solutions for the synthesis of carbohydrate mimics, in particular C-disaccharides, or other complex assemblies could be prepared by this route. There is no doubt that further studies in the field will unravel unexpected applications such as bis-C-glycosides synthesis and new sugar-based scaffolds and will provide us with highly advanced synthetic chiral intermediates en route to complex natural products.

6. Acknowledgment

It is a pleasure to acknowledge Drs. Alphonse Bandzouzi and Mohammed Lakhrissi for their fruitful involvements in the early beginning of our exploration of *exo*-glycal formation and chemistry. Their skillful work allowed important breakthroughs, further explored by two dedicated co-workers, Dr. Younes Lakhrissi and Ms. Carine Chevrier.

7. Abbreviations

| Ac | acetyl |
|------|--------------------------|
| AIBN | azo-bis-isobutyronitrile |

| 9-BBN | 9-bora-bicyclo[3.3.1]nonane |
|----------------|---|
| Bn | benzyl |
| Boc | tert-butoxycarbonyl |
| Bz | benzoyl |
| CAN | ceric ammonium nitrate |
| Ср | cyclopentadienyl |
| ĊŚA | camphorsulfonic acid |
| Dba | dibenzylideneacetone |
| DBU | 1,8-diazabicyclo[5.4.0]undec-7-ene |
| DIBAL-H | diisobutylaluminum hydride |
| DMAP | 4-(dimethylamino)pyridine |
| DMF | N.N-dimethylformamide |
| DMSO | dimethyl sulfoxide |
| dppf | 1.3-bis-diphenylphosphinoferrocene |
| dnnn | 1 3-bis-diphenylphosphinopropane |
| Fmoc | 9-fluorenylmethoxycarbonyl |
| НМРА | hexamethylphosphoric triamide |
| IDCP | iodonium dicollidine perchlorate |
| Inid | imidazol-1-yl |
| KHMDS | notassium hevamethyldisilazide |
| IAH | lithium aluminum hydride |
| | lithium diisopropylamide |
| LDA | lithium hovemethyldisilezide |
| $m CDB\Lambda$ | meta chloroporbonzoic acid |
| MOM | meta-cilioroper benzoic aciu |
| Mo | mecul (methanesulfonul) |
| MS | melocular sioves |
| NDC | N bromosuccinimido |
| NIS | Niedesussinimide |
| Dh | nhanvi |
| FII Dht | phenyi |
| PIIL | pitulaloyi |
| PIV | pivaloyi (2,2-dimethyipropanoyi) |
| PMB | <i>p</i> -metnoxybenzyl |
| Рувор | benzotriazoi-i-yi-oxy-tris(pyrrolidino)phospho- |
| D | nium nexafluorophosphate |
| Pyr | pyridine |
| rflx | reflux |
| TBAF | tetrabutylammoniumfluoride |
| TBS | tert-butyldimethylsilyl |
| TBDPS | <i>tert</i> -butyldiphenylsilyl |
| Tf | triflyl (trifluoromethanesulfonyl) |
| THF | tetrahydrofuran |
| TIBAL | triisobutyl aluminum |
| TIPS | triisopropylsilyl |
| TMEDA | <i>N</i> , <i>N</i> , <i>N</i> , <i>N</i> -tetramethylethylenediamine |
| TMS | trimethylsilyl |
| Tol | toluene |
| Tr | trityl (triphenylmethyl) |
| Ts | tosyl (4-methylbenzenesulfonyl) |
| Z | benzyloxycarbonyl |

- (1) According to IUPAC recommendation, 2-Carb-17.2, "The term glycal' is a non-preferred, trivial name for cyclic enol ether derivatives of sugars having a double bond between carbon atoms 1 and 2 of the ring. It should not be used or modified as a class name for monosaccharide derivatives having a double bond in any other position" (Pure Appl. Chem. 1996, 68, 1919-2008). The so-called 'exo-glycals' are normally termed using an "anhydro-...-enitol"-based terminology. The term 'C-glycosylidene clearly indicates the double substitution at the anomeric centre and should be also used.
- (2) (a) Ferrier, R. J.; Prasad, N. J. Chem. Soc. C 1969, 570. (b) Daves, G. D. J. Acc. Chem. Res. 1990, 23, 201. (c) Danishefsky, S. J.; Bilodeau, M. T. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1996, 35, 1380. (d) Seeberger, P. H.; Danishefsky, S. J. Acc. Chem. Res. **1998**, *31*, 685. (e) Priebe, W.; Grynkiewicz, G. *Glycoscience* **2001**, *1*, 749. (f) Ferrier, R. J. *Top. Curr. Chem.* **2001**, *215*, 153. (g) Kubota, H.; Lim, J.; Depew, K. M.; Schreiber, S. L. *Chem. Biol.* 2002, 9, 265
- (3) Hough, L.; Khan, R.; Otter, B. A. Adv. Chem. Ser. 1968, 74, 120.
- (4) Chrétien, F. Synth. Commun. 1989, 19, 1015.
- (5) Chapleur, Y.; Grapsas, Y. Carbohydr. Res. 1985, 141, 153.

- (6) Cipolla, L.; Liguori, L.; Nicotra, F.; Torri, G.; Vismara, E. Chem. Commun. 1996, 1253.
- Commun. 1990, 1235. Ferrier, R. J.; Middleton, S. *Chem. Rev.* 1993, *93*, 2779. (a) Bischofberger, K.; Hall, R. H.; Jordan, A. *J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun.* 1975, 806. (b) Hall, R. H.; Bischofberger, K.; (8) Eitelman, S. J.; Jordaan, A. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1977, 743
- (a) Brockhaus, M.; Lehmann, J. *Carbohydr. Res.* 1977, *53*, 21.
 (b) Eitelman, S. J.; Hall, R. H.; Jordaan, A. *J. Chem. Soc., Chem.* (9)Commun. 1976, 923. (c) Hall, R. H.; Bischofberger, K.; Eitelman, S. J.; Jordaan, A. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1977, 2236.
- (10) Hall, R. H.; Bischofberger, K.; Brink, A. J.; De Villiers, O. G.; Jordan, A. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1979, 781. Chapleur, Y. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1984, 449
- Wilcox, C. S.; Long, G. W.; Suh, H. Tetrahedron Lett. 1984, 25, (12)395.
- (13) Murphy, P. J.; Brennan, J. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1988, 17, 1.
- (14) Dugan, A. J.; Adams, M. A.; Brynes, P. J.; Meinwald, J. Tetrahedron Lett. **1978**, 4323.
- (15) For an up-to-date review on this topic, see: Murphy, P. J.; Lee, S. E. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1999, 3049. (16) (a) Ried, W.; Appel, H. Annalen. 1964, 679, 51. (b) Castro, B.;
- Burgada, R.; Lavielle, G.; Villieras, J. *C. R. Acad. Sci. C* **1969**, *268*, 1067. (c) Tronchet, J. M. J.; Baehler, B.; Bonenfant, A. *Helv.* Chim. Acta 1976, 59, 941. (d) Salmond, W. G. Tetrahedron Lett. **1977** 1239
- (17) Bandzouzi, A.; Chapleur, Y. Carbohydr. Res. 1987, 171, 13.
- (18) Bandzouzi, A.; Lakhrissi, M.; Chapleur, Y. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1992, 1471.
- (19)(a) Shiozaki, M. Carbohydr. Res. 2001, 335, 147. (b) Shiozaki, M. Carbohydr. Res. 2002, 337, 2077.
- (20) Motherwell, W. B.; Tozer, M. J.; Ross, B. C. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1989, 1437.
- Houlton, J. S.; Motherwell, W. B.; Ross, B. C.; Tozer, M. J.; (21)Williams, D. J.; Slawin, A. M. Z. Tetrahedron 1993, 49, 8087.
- (22) Lakhrissi, M.; Chapleur, Y. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 5752.
- (23) Suda, M.; Fukushima, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1981, 22, 759.
- (24) Lakhrissi, M.; Chapleur, Y. Synlett 1991, 583.
- (a) Appel, R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. **1975**, *14*, 801. (b) Burton, G.; Elder, J. S.; Fell, S. C. M.; Stachulski, A. V. Tetrahedron Lett. **1988**, *29*, 3003. (25)
- For a review on the chemistry of this lactone, see: Monneret, C.; Florent, J. C. *Synlett* **1994**, 305. (26)
- (27)Mattes, H.; Benezra, C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1987, 28, 1697.
- Lakhrissi, Y.; Taillefumier, C.; Chrétien, F.; Chapleur, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 7265. (28)
- Lakhrissi, M.; Taillefumier, C.; Chapleur, Y. Unpublished (29)results, 2003.
- (30)Lamberth, C. Carbohydr. Lett. 1999, 3, 375.
- (31) Brennan, J.; Murphy, P. J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 2063.
- (32) Lakhrissi, M.; Chapleur, Y. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1996, 35. 750.
- (a) Molina, A.; Czernecki, S.; Xie, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, (33)7507. (b) Xie, J.; Molina, A.; Czernecki. S. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1999. 18. 481.
- (34) Becattini, B.; Capozzi, G.; Falciani, C.; Menichetti, S.; Nativi, C.; Salvini, A. *J. Carbohydr. Chem.* **2000**, *19*, 653. Nicolaou, K. C.; Vassilikogiannakis, G.; Kranich, R.; Baran, P.
- (35)S.; Zhong, Y.-L.; Natarajan, S. *Org. Lett.* **2000**, *2*, 1895. (36) Schiemenz, G. P.; Engelhard, H. *Chem. Ber.* **1961**, *94*, 578.
- Tsunoda, T.; Nagino, C.; Oguri, M.; Ito, S. Tetrahedron Lett. (37)1996, 37, 2459.
- Lakhrissi, Y.; Taillefumier, C.; Lakhrissi, M.; Chapleur, Y. (38)
- *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **2000**, *9*, 417. (39) Tsunoda, T.; Takagi, H.; Takaba, D.; Kaku, H.; Ito, S. *Tetrahe*dron Lett. 2000, 41, 235.
- (40) (41) Sabitha, G.; Reddy, M. M.; Srinivas, D.; Yadov, J. S. *Tetrahedron*
- Lett. 1999, 40, 165.
- (42) Mikolajczyck, M.; Gzejszcak, S.; Wieczoreck, M. W. J. Org. Chem. **1994**, *59*, 1673.
- (43) Murphy, P. J.; Dennison, S. T. Tetrahedron 1993, 49, 6695.
- Rossin, R.; Jones, P. R.; Murphy, P. J.; Worsley, W. R. J. Chem. (44)Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 **1996**, 1323.
- (45)Heys, L.; Murphy, P. J.; Coles, S. J.; Gelbrich, T.; Hursthouse, M. B. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 7151.
- (46) Evans, L. A.; Griffiths, K. E.; Guthmann, H.; Murphy, P. J. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 299.
- (47) Huerzeler, M.; Bernet, B.; Maeder, T.; Vasella, A. Helv. Chim. Acta 1993, 76, 1779.
- Horigome, M.; Motoyoshi, H.; Watanabe, H.; Kitahara, T. (48)Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 8207.
- Secrist, J. A., III; Wu, S.-R. J. Org. Chem. 1979, 44, 1434.
- (50) Dondoni, A.; Kleban, M.; Zuurmond, H.; Marra, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 7991.

- (51) Ousset, J. B.; Mioskowski, C.; Yang, Y.-L.; Falck, J. R. Tetra*hedron Lett.* **1984**, *25*, 5903.
 (52) (a) Ley, S. V.; Lygo, B. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1984**, *25*, 113. (b) Ley,
- S. V.; Lygo, B.; Organ, H. M.; Wonnacott, A. Tetrahedron 1985, 41, 3825. (c) Godoy, J.; Ley, S. V.; Lygo, B. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1984, 1381. (d) Mori, K.; Ikunaka, M. Tetrahedron **1987**, 43, 45.
- (53) Jaouen, V.; Jegou, A.; Lemee, L.; Veyrières, A. Tetrahedron 1999, 55, 9245. (54) Jaouen, V.; Jegou, A.; Veyrières, A. Synlett **1996**, 1218.
- Lieberknecht, A.; Griesser, H.; Bravo, R. D.; Colinas, P. A.; Grigera, R. J. *Tetrahedron* **1998**, *54*, 3159. (55)
- Lieberknecht, A.; Griesser, H.; Kramer, B.; Bravo, R. D.; Colinas, (56)P. A.; Grigera, R. J. Tetrahedron 1999, 55, 6475.
- (57) Pine, S. H. Org. React. 1993, 43, 1.
- (58) Hartley, R. C.; McKiernan, G. J. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 2002, Ž763.
- Suh, H.; Wilcox, C. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 470.
- (60) RajanBabu, T. V.; Reddy, G. S. J. Org. Chem. 1986, 51, 5458.
 (61) Nicotra, F.; Panza, L.; Russo, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1991, 32,
- 4035. (62) Untersteller, E.; Xin, Y. C.; Sinaÿ, P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35. 2537.
- (63) Haudrechy, A.; Sinaÿ, P. J. Org. Chem. 1992, 57, 4142.
 (64) Barrett, A. G. M.; Bezuidenhoudt, B. C. B.; Melcher, L. M. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 5196.
- (65)Ali, M. H.; Collins, P. M.; Overend, W. G. Carbohydr. Res. 1990, 205. 428.
- (66) Csuk, R.; Glänzer, B. I. *Tetrahedron* 1991, 47, 1655.
 (67) Johns, B. A.; Pan, Y. T.; Elbein, A. D.; Johnson, C. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 4856.
- (68) Sasaki, M.; Fuwa, H.; Inoue, M.; Tachibana, K. Tetrahedron Lett. **1998**, *39*, 9027.
- (69)Tanaka, H.; Kawai, K.; Fujiwara, K.; Murai, A. Tetrahedron 2002, 58, 10017.
- (70) Clauss, K.; Bestian, H. Ann. 1962, 654, 8.
- (71) Petasis, N. A.; Bzowej, E. I. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 6392.
 (72) Petasis, N. A.; Lu, S. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 6394.
- (73) Johnson, C. R.; Johns, B. A. Synlett 1997, 1406.
 (74) Faivre-Buet, V.; Eynard, I.; Ntede Nga, H.; Descotes, G.; Grouiller, A. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1993, 12, 349.
- (75) Li, X. L.; Ohtake, H.; Takahashi, H.; Ikegami, S. Synlett 2001, 1885.
- (76)Okazoe, T.; Takai, K.; Oshima, K.; Ultimoto, K. J. Org. Chem. 1987, 52, 4410.
- (77) Horikawa, Y.; Watanabe, M.; Fujiwara, T.; Takeda, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 1127-.
- (78) Rui, Y. J.; Thompson, D. H. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 5758-.
- (79) Lehmann, J.; Schwesinger, B. Carbohydr. Res. 1982, 107, 43.
- (a) Fritz, H.; Lehmann, J.; Schlesselmann, P. Carbohydr. Res.
 1983, 113, 71. (b) Fritz, H.; Lehmann, J.; Schlesselmann, P. Carbohydr. Res. (80)
- Weiser, W.; Lehmann, J.; Brewer, C. F.; Hehre, E. J. Carbohydr. (81)Res. 1988, 183, 287.
- (a) Hehre, E. J.; Brewer, C. F.; Uchiyama, T.; Schlesselmann, P.; Lehmann, J. *Biochemistry* **1980**, *19*, 3557. (b) Schlesselmann, (82)P.; Fritz, H.; Lehmann, J.; Uchiyama, T.; Brewer, C. F.; Hehre, E. J. *Biochemistry* **1982**, *21*, 6606.
- (83) (a) Lehmann, J.; Schlesselmann, P. Carbohydr. Res. 1983, 113, 93. (b) Fritz, H.; Lehmann, J.; Schmidt-Schuchardt, M.; Weiser, W. Carbohydr. Res. 1991, 218, 129.
- (84) Lancelin, J.-M.; Pougny, J.-R.; Sinaÿ, P. Carbohydr. Res. 1985, 136, 369.
- (85) Trost, B. M.; Runge, T. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1981, 103, 7559. (86) Ficini, J.; Genet, J.-P.; Depezay, J.-C. Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. 1973, 12, Pt. 2, 3367.
- (87) Danishefsky, S.; Kervin, J. F., Jr. J. Org. Chem. **1982**, 47, 3803.
 (88) Kozikowski, A. P.; Sorgi, K. L. Tetrahedron Lett. **1982**, 23, 2281.
- (89) Lewis, M. D.; Cha, J. K.; Kishi, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1982, 104,
- (90) Rosenblum, S. B.; Bihovsky, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 2746.
- (91) Dondoni, A.; Scherrmann, M. C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993, 34, 7319.
- (92) Sanchez, M. E. L.; Michelet, V.; Besnier, I.; Genet, J. P. Synlett **1994**, 705.
- Calzada, E.; Clarke, C. A.; Roussin Bouchard, C.; Wightman, R. (93)H. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1995, 517.
- (94) Jiang, S. D.; Singh, G.; Wightman, R. H. Chem. Lett. 1996, 67.
- (95) Ayadi, E.; Czernecki, S.; Xie, J. A. Chem. Commun. 1996, 347.
- (96) Csuk, R.; Kuhn, M.; Strohl, D. Tetrahedron 1997, 53, 1311.

- (96) Csuk, R.; Kuhn, M.; Strohl, D. *Tetrahedron* **1997**, *53*, 1311.
 (97) Schweizer, F.; Inazu, T. *Org. Lett.* **2001**, *3*, 4115.
 (98) Yang, W. B.; Chang, C. F.; Wang, S. H.; Teo, C. F.; Lin, C. H. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2001**, *42*, 4657.
 (99) Yang, W.-B.; Wu, C.-Y.; Chang, C.-C.; Wang, S.-H.; Teo, C.-F.; Lin, C.-H. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2001**, *42*, 6907.
 100) Yang, W. B.; Yang, Y. Y.; Gu, Y. F.; Wang, S. H.; Chang, C. C.; Lin, C. H. *J. Org. Chem.* **2002**, *67*, 3773. (100)

- (101) Griffin, F. K.; Murphy, P. V.; Paterson, D. E.; Taylor, R. J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1998**, *39*, 8179.
- (102) Aebischer, B.; Meuwly, R.; Vasella, A. Helv. Chim. Acta 1984, 67, 2236.
- (103) Aebischer, B.; Bieri, J. H.; Prewo, R.; Vasella, A. Helv. Chim. Acta 1982, 65, 2251.
- (104) Ichikawa, S.; Shuto, S.; Matsuda, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 4525.
- (105) Newcombe, N. J.; Mahon, M. F.; Molloy, K. C.; Alker, D.; Gallagher, T. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1993**, *115*, 6430.
 (106) Binch, H. M.; Griffin, A. M.; Schwidetzky, S.; Ramsay, M. V. J.;
- Gallagher, T.; Lichtenthaler, F. W. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1995, 967.
- (107) Somsak, L. Chem. Rev. 2001, 101, 81.
 (108) (a) Ramberg, L.; Bäcklund, B. Ark. Kemi. Mineral. Geol. 1940, 27, 13A. (b) Paquette, L. A. Org. React. 1977, 25, 1. (c) Taylor, R. J. K. Chem. Commun. 1999, 217.
- (109) Meyers, C. Y.; Malte, A. M.; Matthews, W. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1969**, *91*, 7510.
- (110)Norberg, T. Front. Nat. Prod. Res.: Modern Methods in Carbohydrate Synthesis 1996, 1, 82.
- (111) Oscarson, S. Carbohydr. Chem. Biol. 2000, 1, 93.
- (112) Boons, G.-J. Glycoscience 2001, 1, 551
- (113) Griffin, F. K.; Paterson, D. E.; Murphy, P. V.; Taylor, R. J. K. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 1305.
- (114) (a) Griffin, F. K.; Paterson, D. E.; Taylor, R. J. K. Angew. Chem., *Int. Ed.* **1999**, *38*, 2939. (b) Paterson, D. E.; Griffin, F. K.; Alcaraz, M.-L.; Taylor, R. J. K. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **2002**, 1323.
- Belica, P. S.; Franck, R. W. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 8225. (115)(116) Yang, G.; Franck, R. W.; Bittma, R.; Samadder, P.; Arthur, G. Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 197.
- (117) Pasetto, P.; Chen, X.; Drain, C. M.; Franck, R. W. Chem. Commun. 2001, 81.
- (118) Ohnishi, Y.; Ichikawa, Y. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 2002, *12*, 997.
 (119) Campbell, A. D.; Paterson, D. E.; Raynham, T. M.; Taylor, R. J.
- K. Chem. Commun. 1999, 1599. (120) McAllister, G. D.; Paterson, D. E.; Taylor, R. J. K. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 1387.
- (121) Lichtenthaler, F. W.; Hahn, S.; Flath, F.-J. Liebigs Ann. 1995, 2081
- (122) Tomooka, K.; Nakamura, Y.; Nakai, T. *Synlett* **1995**, 321.
 (123) Praly, J. P.; Chen, G. R.; Gola, J.; Hetzer, G.; Raphoz, C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1997**, *38*, 8185.
- (124) Praly, J.-P.; Chen, G.-R.; Gola, J.; Hetzer, G. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 2831.

 - (125) Toth, M.; Somsak, L. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 2001, 942.
 (126) Toth, M.; Somsak, L. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 2723.
 (127) Gomez, A. M.; Pedregosa, A.; Valverde, S.; Lopez, J. C. Chem. Commun. 2002, 2022.
 - (128) Gomez, A. M.; Danelon, G. O.; Pedregosa, A.; Valverde, S.; Lopez,
 - (12) Longe Hormone, F. L. Piere, Commun. 2002, 2024.
 (129) Pino Gonzalez, M. S.; Dominguez Aciego, R. M.; Lopez Herrera, F. J. Tetrahedron 1988, 44, 3715.
 (130) Longe Hormone, F. L. Piere, C. L. Piere, Piere
 - Lopez Herrera, F. J.; Pino Gonzalez, M. S.; Nieto Sampedro, M.; (130)
 - Dominguez Aciego, R. M. *Tetrahedron* **1989**, *45*, 269. (131) Lopez-Herrera, F. J.; Sarabia-Garcia, F. *Tetrahedron* **1997**, *53*, 3325.
 - Auclair, S. X.; Morris, M.; Sturgess, M. A. Tetrahedron Lett. (132)1992, *33*, 7739.
 - (a) Tatibouet, A.; Rollin, P.; Martin, O. R. J. Carbohydr. Chem. (133)2000, 19, 641. (b) Pougny, J.-R.; Nassr, M. A. M.; Sinay, P. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1981, 375.
 - Molas, P.; Diaz, Y.; Matheu, I.; Castillon, S. Synlett 2003, 207. (134)
 - (135) For reviews, see: (a) Postema, M. H. D. Tetrahedron 1992, 48, 8545. (b) Levy, D. É.; Tang, C. The chemistry of C-glycosides; Pergamon-Elsevier: Kidlington, UK, 1995. (c) Du, Y. G.; Linhardt, R. J.; Vlahov, I. R. Tetrahedron 1998, 54, 9913.
 - (136) Corey, E. J.; Pan, B.-C.; Hua, D. H.; Deardorff, D. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1982, 104, 6816.
 - (137) Carchon, G.; Chrétien, F.; Chapleur, Y. Carbohydr. Lett. 1996, 2, 17
 - (138) For the methylation of anomeric dianion, see: Wittmann, V.; Kessler, H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1993, 32, 1091.
 - Bandzouzi, A.; Chapleur, Y. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1987, (139)661.
 - (140) Klemer, A.; Rodemeyer, G. Chem. Ber. 1974, 107, 2612
 - (141) Kang, K. H.; Cha, M. Y.; Pae, A. N.; Choi, K. I.; Cho, Y. S.; Koh, H. Y.; Chung, B. Y. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2000**, *41*, 8137.
 - (142) Carchon, G.; Chrétien, F.; Delannoy, P.; Verbert, A.; Chapleur, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 8821.
 - (143) For the synthesis of L-fucose using this analogy, see: Gesson, J. P.; Jacquesy, J. C.; Mondon, M.; Petit, P. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1992**, *33*, 3637.
 - (144) Alcaraz, M.-L.; Griffin, F. K.; Paterson, D. E.; Taylor, R. J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1998**, *39*, 8183.
 - (145) Gervay, J.; Flaherty, T. M.; Holmes, D. Tetrahedron 1997, 53, 16355.
 - (146) Rosenberg, H. J.; Riley, A. M.; Correa, V.; Taylor, C. W.; Potter, B. V. L. Carbohydr. Res. 2000, 329, 7.

- (147) For a review, see: Chrétien, F.; Moitessier, N.; Roussel, F.; Mauger, J.-P.; Chapleur, Y. *Curr. Org. Chem.* **2000**, *4*, 513.
 (148) Lambert, W. T.; Burke, S. D. *Org. Lett.* **2003**, *5*, 515.
- (149) Herpin, T. F.; Houlton, J. S.; Motherwell, W. B.; Roberts, B. P.; (149) Herpin, I. F.; Houlton, J. S.; Motherwell, W. B.; Roberts, B. P.; Weibel, J. M. Chem. Commun. 1996, 613.
 (150) Herpin, T. F.; Motherwell, W. B.; Roberts, B. P.; Roland, S.; Weibe, J. M. Tetrahedron 1997, 53, 15085.
 (151) Kovensky, J.; McNeil, M.; Sinay P. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 6202.
 (152) Miyaura, N.; Suzuki, A. Chem. Rev. 1995, 95, 2457.
 (153) Suzuki, A. J. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 576, 147.
 (154) Johnson, C. R.; Miller, M. W.; Golebiowski, A.; Sundram, H.; Ksehati, M. B. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 8991

- Ksebati, M. B. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 8991.
- (155)Sasaki, M.; Fuwa, H.; Ishikawa, M.; Tachibana, K. Org. Lett. **1999**, *1*, 1075.
- (156)Sasaki, M.; Noguchi, K.; Fuwa, H.; Tachibana, K. Tetrahedron *Lett.* **2000**, *41*, 1425. (157) Takakura, H.; Noguchi, K.; Sasaki, M.; Tachibana, K. *Angew.*
- Chem., Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 1090.
- (158) For other approaches to these complex natural products using Tebbe ester methylenation and ring-closing metathesis reactions, see: Nicolaou, K. C.; Postema, M. H. D.; Claiborne, C. F. *J. Am.* Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 1565.
- (159) Clark, J. S.; Kettle, J. G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 123.
- (160) Clark, J. S.; Kettle, J. G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 127.
- (161) Lay, L.; Nicotra, F.; Panza, L.; Russo, G.; Caneva, E. J. Org. Chem. 1992, 57, 1304.
- (162) Motherwell, W. B.; Ross, B. C.; Tozer, M. J. Synlett 1989, 68. (163) Herpin, T. F.; Motherwell, W. B.; Tozer, M. J. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1994, 5, 2269.
- (164) exo-Glycals obtained by dehydrohalogenation of fructose derivative have been used in radical polymerisation: Wick, S.; Yaa-coub, E.-J. *Macromol. Chem. Phys.* **2000**, *201*, 93.
- (165) Lakhrissi, M.; Bandzouzi, A.; Chapleur, Y. Carbohydr. Lett. 1995, 307.
- (166) Vidal, T.; Haudrechy, A.; Langlois, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 5677.
- (167)(a) Calimente, D.; Postema, M. H. D. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 1770. (b) Postema, M. H. D.; Calimente, D. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 4755.
- (168) Paquette, L. A.; Philippo, C. M. G.; Vo, N. H. Can. J. Chem. 1992, 70, 1356.
- (169) (a) Wang, W.; Zhang, Y. M.; Sollogoub, M.; Sinaÿ, P. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 2466. (b) Sollogoub, M.; Pearce, A. J.; Herault, A.; Sinaÿ, P. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2000, 11, 283.
 (c) Wang, W.; Zhang, Y. M.; Zhou, H. H.; Bleriot, Y.; Sinaÿ, P. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 1053.
- (170) Werschkun, B.; Thiem, J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1997, 36, 2793; Angew. Chem. 1997, 109, 2905.
 (171) Sollogoub, M.; Mallet, J.-M.; Sinay, P. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 362; Angew. Chem. 2000, 112, 370.
- van Hooft, P. A.; van der Marel, G. A.; van Boeckel, C. A.; van Boom, J. H. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2001**, *42*, 1769. Lakhrissi, M.; Chaouch, A.; Chapleur, Y. *Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr.* (172)
- (173)1996, 133, 531
- (174)Praly, J. P.; El Kharrak, Z.; Descotes, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1990, 31.4441
- (a) Mangholz, S. E.; Vasella, A. *Helv. Chim. Acta* **1991**, *74*, 2100.
 (b) Vasella, A.; Uhlmann, P.; Waldraff, C. A. A.; Diederich, F.; Thilgen, C. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.* **1992**, *31*, 1388. (175)

- (176) Huber, R.; Molleyres, L.-P.; Vasella, A. Helv. Chim. Acta 1990,
- 73, 1329.
 (177) Li, X.; Takahashi, H.; Ohtake, H.; Shiro, M.; Ikegami, S. *Tetrahedron* 2001, *57*, 8053.

- (178) Mlynarski, J.; Banaszek, A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1998, *39*, 5425.
 (179) Mlynarski, J.; Banaszek, A. *Tetrahedron* 1999, *55*, 2785.
 (180) Noort, D.; Veeneman, G. H.; Boons, G. J. P. H.; van der Marel,
- G. A.; Mulder, G. J.; van Boom, J. H. Synlett 1990, 205 (181) Witczak, Z. J.; Chhabra, R.; Chojnacki, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 2215.
- (182) Colinas, P. A.; Jäger, V.; Lieberknecht, A.; Bravo, R. D. *Tetra-*hedron Lett. **2003**, 44, 1071.
- (183) Perron, F.; Albizati, K. F. Chem. Rev. 1989, 89, 1617.
- (184)Taillefumier, C.; Enderlin, G.; Chapleur, Y. Unpublished results, 2003.
- (185)Martin, O. R.; Xie, F. Carbohydr. Res. 1994, 264, 141.
- (186) McRae, K. J.; Rizzacasa, M. A. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 1196.
 (187) Bartolozzi, A.; Capozzi, G.; Falciani, C.; Menichetti, S.; Nativi, C.; Bacialli, A. P. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 6490.
- Capozzi, G.; Bartolozzi, A.; Falciani, C.; Menichetti, S.; Nativi, (188)C. Phosphorus, Sulfur Silicon **1999**, 153–154, 309.
- Bartolozzi, A.; Capozzi, G.; Menichetti, S.; Nativi, C. Org. Lett. (189)**2000**, *2*, 251.
- (a) Liu, H.; Smoliakova, I. P.; Koikov, L. N. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, (190)3895. (b) Smoliakova, I. P. *Curr. Org. Chem.* **2000**, *4*, 589. (191) Chang, C. F.; Yang, W. B.; Chang, C. C.; Lin, C. H. *Tetrahedron*
- Lett. 2002, 43, 6515.
- (192) Sharma, G. V.; Chander, A. S.; Goverdhan Reddy, V.; Krishnudu, K.; Ramana Rao, M. H.; Kunwar, A. C. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 1997.
- (193) Li, X. L.; Ohtake, H.; Takahashi, H.; Ikegami, S. *Tetrahedron* 2001, *57*, 4283.
- (194)Colinas, P. A.; Lieberknecht, A.; Bravo, R. D. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 9065.
- Lakhrissi, M.; Taillefumier, C.; Chaouch, A.; Didierjean, C.; Aubry, A.; Chapleur, Y. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1998**, *39*, 6457. (195)
- Taillefumier, C.; Lakhrissi, M.; Chapleur, Y. Synlett **1999**, 697. Lin, H. C.; Yang, W. B.; Gu, Y. F.; Chen, C. Y.; Wu, C. Y.; Lin, C. H. Org. Lett. **2003**, *5*, 1087. (196)(197)
- (a) Taillefumier, C.; Andreini, M.; Chapleur, Y. Unpublished (198)results, 2003. (b) Lakhrissi, M.; Taillefumier, C.; Chapleur, Y. Unpublished results, 2002.
- Schlama, T.; Gabriel, K.; Gouverneur, V.; Mioskowski, C. Angew. (199)Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1997, 36, 2342.
- (200)Lakhrissi, M.; Carchon, G.; Schlama, T.; Mioskowski, C.; Chapleur, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 6453.
- (201)Lakhrissi, M.; Chapleur, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 4659. (202)
- Taillefumier, C.; Lakhrissi, Y.; Lakhrissi, M.; Chapleur, Y. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **2002**, *13*, 1707. Gomez, A. M.; Uriel, C.; Valverde, S.; Jarosz, S.; Lopez, J. C. (203)
- Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 8935. (204) Dotz, K. H.; Haase, W.-C.; Klumpe, M.; Nieger, M. Chem. Commun. 1997, 1217.
- (205)Haase, W.-C.; Nieger, M.; Dotz, K. H. Chem.-Eur. J. 1999, 5, 2014.
- (206) Dirat, O.; Vidal, T.; Langlois, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 4801. (207) Taillefumier, C.; Thielges, S.; Chapleur, Y. Tetrahedron, in press.

CR030640V